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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated dinhstatements of DMG MORI CO.,
LTD. (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collediiyehe Group), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position aBetember 31, 2021, and the consolidated

statements of profit or loss, comprehensive incarhanges in equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidateddialestatements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated folianstatements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial posibf the Group as at December 31, 2021,
and its consolidated financial performance andatssolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financigdd®éng Standards (IFRSS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with audisitasndards generally accepted in Japan.
Our responsibilities under those standards arehdurtdescribed in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidatgdancial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordancethgtlethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the consolidated financial statetea@m Japan, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with thesguirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apjptgto provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in owfegsional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated fio@hstatements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of the afithie consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion th@reand we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Valuation of goodwill and other intangible assetswindefinite useful lives arising on
business combination with DMG MORI AKTIEGESELLSCHAE'DMG MORI AG”)

Description of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response

As described in Note 1fGoodwill and The audit procedures we performed to assess
Other Intangible Assetsto the consolidated | the valuation of goodwill and other intangible
financial statements, the Company recordedassets with indefinite useful lives arising on
goodwill of ¥70,834 million and other the business combination with DMG MORI
intangible assets with indefinite useful liveg AG included the following, among others:

of ¥33,847 million, (mainly trademark) as of
December 31, 2021, ¥67,873 million and

¥33,847 million, respectively, arising on the
business combination with DMG MORI AG

We assessed the design and operating
effectiveness of the internal control for
determining whether impairment loss
should be recognized with regard to the
valuation of goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives.




The Company allocated the carrying amou
of goodwill and other intangible assets aris
on the business combination with DMG
MORI AG to a cash generating urffOQGU”)
or group of CGUs, such as Machine Tools
and Industrial Services, and performs
impairment testing annually. The recoveral
amount of goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives is measu
based on value in use of the CGU or group
CGUs to which they are allocated. During t
year ended December 31, 2021, the Comp
did not recognize an impairment loss as thg

value in use exceeded the carrying amount.

The value in use is calculated by discountif
the estimated future cash flows based on t
five-year business plan approved by
management and the terminal value based
the growth rate for the period subsequent t
the period covered by the business plan, u
the pre-tax discount rate considering the
corresponding pre-tax WACC for similar
industries and reflecting current market
assessments of the time value of money af
specific risks. For the period subsequent to
period covered by the business plan, the
Company calculates the terminal value by
discounting estimated future cash flows to
their present value using a growth rate
determined in consideration of the conditio
of the country and industry to which the CG
or group of CGUs belongs based on the
forecasted cash flows for the final year of t
business plan.

The key assumptions used for the calculati
of value in use are the growth rate of sales

revenues and ratio of operating costs to sales

revenues incorporated in the business plan
the growth rate for the period subsequent t
the period covered by the business plan ar
pre-tax discount rate used in the calculatio
of present value.

We compared the émated future casl
flows with the business plan approved [
management to evaluate the consisteng

We compared the Company’s business
plan for prior years with actual results tg
evaluate the effectiveness of

le management’s estimation process.

ed With the involvement of the valuation
of specialists from our network firm, we
he assessed the reasonableness of the
any valuation methodologies for value in us

a)
I~ e

We made inquiries with management
about alternative assumptions and resu
to enhance our understanding of the
degree of uncertainty with regard to

on management estimate.
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We assessed the growth rate of sales
revenues, which serves as the basis of
business plan, by making inquiries abol
the rational for management
determination, performing a trend

1d analysis based on past performance, ar

the

we conducted a comparison analysis
involving the capital expenditure demar
forecast in the machine tool market
prepared by third parties with the growt
rate.

NS
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1e' We assessed the ratio of operating cost
of the business plan, by making inquirie
about the rational for management
determination and conducting a trend
analysis based on past performance.

on

With the involvement of valuation
specialists from our network firm, we
assessed the growth rates for the periof
subsequent to the period covered by th
business plan and the discount rate by
evaluating the consistency of the inputs
used in the calculations with publicly
available data. In addition, we conducte
a sensitivity analysis.
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conducting a comparison analysis of the
outcome with the growth rate. In addition,

sales revenues which serves as the basi
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The above key assumptions used to calcu
value in use of goodwill and other intangibl

assets with indefinite useful lives arising or

the business combination with DMG MORI
AG are subject to uncertainty and require
significant management judgment. The
estimates are highly uncertain since in
particular, the growth rate of sales revenue|
tends to be significantly affected by any
increase or decrease in capital expenditure
demand in the machine tool market due to
economic fluctuations, and the ratio of
operating costs to sales revenues is affectq
by the aforementioned fluctuations in
economic conditions as well as the risk of
rising raw material costs.

Therefore, we determined the valuation of
goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives arising on the busine
combination with DMG MORI AG to be a
key audit matter.

D
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Classification of perpetual subordinated bo

ndsgasty instruments

Description of Key Audit Matter

Auditor’'s Response

As described in Note 21Equity and Other
Equity Items; to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company raised funds in t
amount of ¥30 billion through the Fourth
Subordinated Bondsthe perpetual
subordinated bondsin August 2021.

The Company determined that these perpe
subordinated bonds are classified as equity
instruments as the Company has the option
defer interest payments and has no obligat
to make payments, except in the case a
liguidation event as defined in the
subordinated bond clause, and recorded th
bonds undefEquity”’ in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

As a result, the proceeds from the perpetus:
subordinated bonds, after deducting issue
costs in the amount of ¥29,718 million, are
recorded as “Other equity instruments” und
“Equity” in the consolidated statement of

financial position as of December 31, 2021}

The audit procedures we performed to ass
the reasonableness of the classification of
neerpetual subordinated bonds as equity
instruments included the following, among
others:

We read the agreements and the
subordinated bond terms to evaluate al
clauses including the subordination
clauses that affect judgments about the
classification as equity instruments.

to
on

We read the legal opinion given by the
external legal counsel engaged by the
Company and made inquiries of
management in order to evaluate
applicable laws and the Company’s
interpretation of the subordination claus

ese

With the involvement of other legal
expert, we evaluated the legal opinion
given by the external legal counsel
engaged by the Company. In addition,
evaluated the competence, capabilities
objectivity of the external legal counsel

er

£SS

e.

and

engaged by the Company.




The udgments on the classification as equ| + We assessed the classificatof

instruments in accordance with IAS32 perpetual subordinated bonds as equity
“Financial Instruments: Presentatiorquire instruments based on the contents of the
the involvement of legal experts on the subordination clause and applicable laws.

evaluation of applicable laws and
interpretations of the agreements, the
subordinated bond clauses, and involve
significant management judgment.

We evaluated the consistency of the
related disclosures in Note 2ZEquity
and Other Equity Item’sto the
consolidated financial statements with the
Considering the overall materiality of the facts assessed above.
proceeds from the perpetual subordinated
bonds on equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position, we determined the
classification of perpetual subordinated bonds
as equity instruments to be a key audit matqer.

Responsibilities of Management, the Corporate Auddr and the Board of Corporate
Auditors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation aidpfesentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs,fanduch internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparatioonsolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether ddeatal or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statemeantmagement is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concana disclosing, as required by IFRSs,
matters related to going concern.

The Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporatdifaus are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assuradrmat avhether the consolidated financial

statements as a whole are free from material niésatnt, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our igpinMisstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individualtyin the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisionsiseirs taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with auditinghdeds generally accepted in Japan, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain prajaas skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstaté of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, desigrparform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence thatuicgeent and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Consider internal control relevant to the audibider to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for our risk assests, while the purpose of the audit
of the consolidated financial statements is notesging an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pslicised and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures madehagement.



Conclude on the appropriateness of managemerg’solushe going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence olotaimkether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that maysigsificant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude ghaiaterial uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s reptotthe related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such dsaies are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audiemde obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or comais may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure amutent of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whetteeconsolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and event& imanner that achieves fair
presentation in accordance with IFRSs.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence rdgay the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Grougxpress an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for thectdon, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsibleoiar audit opinion.

We communicate with the Corporate Auditor and tbar8 of Corporate Auditors regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and tinfitigge@udit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in interrcaintrol that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Corporate Auditor and the Badi@orporate Auditors with a statement
that we have complied with the ethical requiremeagsirding independence that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in JapamJ to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasor@bthiought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Corporatditdu and the Board of Corporate
Auditors, we determine those matters that were o$tnsignificance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the currenibdeand are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s repaltss law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremalg circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our reporabse the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh theliqubterest benefits of such
communication.

Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the CertifiedPublic Accountants Act of Japan

Our firm and its designated engagement partnerotibave any interest in the Group which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to the prorsspf the Certified Public Accountants Act
of Japan.



Convenience Translation

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying codat#id financial statements with respect
to the year ended December 31, 2021 are preseoig for convenience. Our audit also

included the translation of Japanese yen amoutd®irs. dollar amounts and, in our opinion,
such translation has been made on the basis deddniNote 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC
Tokyo, Japan

March 22, 2022

/s/Yoshitomo Matsuura
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

/s/Hironori Ogawa
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

/s/Ryuichi Minami
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2021

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Assets
Current asset
Cash and cash equivalei(Notes 7 and 24) ¥ 47,298 ¥ 33,75¢ $ 411,258
Trade and other receivables
(Notes 8, 24 and 25) 59,677 42,56 518,888
Other financial asse(Notes 12 and 24) 5,557 4,25¢ 48,319
Inventories(Note 9) 129,542 121,00¢ 1,126,358
Other current ass¢ 12,616 7,976 109,697
Total current asse 254,692 209,557 2,214,523
Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipme(Note 10) 138,076 130,80¢ 1,200,562
Right-of-use assei(Note 17) 22,099 19,79: 192,148
Goodwill (Note 11) 70,834 68,8(7 615,902
Othelintangible assei(Note 11) 74,514 66,44 647,897
Othei financial asset(Notes 12 and 24) 21,989 16,636 191,195
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Note 13) 5,704 5,222 49,603
Deferred tax asse(Note 20) 5,132 4,064 44,627
Other nol-current asse 4,073 4,691 35,414
Total nor-current asse 342,425 316,969 2,977,353

Total assets ¥ 597,117 ¥ 526,526 $ 5,191,876




DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (cardd)

31 December 2021

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payabl(Notes 14 and 24)
Interest-bearing bonds and borrowings
(Notes 15 and 24)
Contract liabilities(Note 25)
Other financial liabilities
(Notes 16, 17, 24 and 34)
Income taes payabl
Provisions(Note 19)
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing bonds and borrowings
(Notes 15 and 24)
Other financial liabilities
(Notes 16, 17 and 24)
Net employee defined benefit liabilities
(Note 18)
Provisions(Note 19)
Deferred tax liabilitie(Note 20)
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Equity (Note 21)
Share capiti
Capital surplu
Other equity instrumer
Treasury shari
Retained earnini
Other components of equity
Equity attributable to owners of the pai
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
¥ 54,169 ¥ 47,90¢ $ 470,999
10,259 36,99: 89,209
65,707 33,67¢ 571,317
74,677 58,08t 649,316
4,734 3,451 41,167
40,543 33,59 352,520
4,316 3,961 37,530
254,409 217,674 2,212,062
85,133 65,41: 740,224
22,406 35,14 194,820
5,180 5,817 45,043
5,871 5,001 51,053
5,429 6,37¢ 47,212
1,407 1,201 12,236
125,428 118,957 1,090,591
379,838 336,631 3,302,653
51,115 51,11¢ 444,446
118,753 118,73! 1,032,550
(1,889) (3,735 (16,430)
52,817 40,45 459,245
(7,657) (21,148) (66,583)
213,139 185,42( 1,853,227
4,139 4,475 35,994
217,279 189,895 1,889,222
¥ 597,117 ¥ 526,526 $ 5,191,876
2



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Revenue!
Sales revenue(Notes 6 and 25) ¥ 396,011 ¥ 328,283 $ 3,443,278
Other operating revenugsote 26) 6,103 6,451 53,068
Total revenu 402,114 334,73 3,496,346
Costs
Changes in merchandise, finished goods
and work in progress for si 7,148 (3,946 62,152
Costs of raw materials and consumables
(Note 9) 170,917 145,08: 1,486,107
Personnel cos(Notes 23 and 28) 119,327 107,81¢ 1,037,538
Depreciation and amortization
(Notes 10, 11 and 17) 21,894 24,11¢ 190,369
Other operating costs
(Notes 10, 11 and 27) 59,759 50,985 519,606
Total costs 379,047 324,060 3,295,774
Operating profi{Note 6) 23,067 10,674 200,572
Financial incom¢Note 29) 429 357 3,735
Financial cost(Notes 17, 30 and 34) 3,919 5,39¢ 34,078
Share of profits (losses) of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using
equity methoc(Notes 6 and 13) 30 (526) 269
Profit before income taxes 19,609 5,106 170,499
Income taxegNote 20) 6,377 3,409 55,455
Profit ¥ 13,231 ¥ 1,696 $ 115,043
Profit attributable tc
Owners of the pare ¥ 13,460 ¥ 1,74f $ 117,040
Non-controlling interests (229) (49) (1,996)
Profit ¥ 13,231 ¥ 1,696 $ 115,043
Earnings per share Yen U.S dollars
Basic(Note 32) ¥ 9175 ¥ 3.4C $ 0.79
Diluted (Note 32) ¥ 9175 ¥ 3.4(C $ 0.79
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 3



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Profit ¥ 13,231 ¥ 1,69¢ $ 115,043
Other comprehensive income (O(
Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or lot
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
(Note 18) 380 87 3,311
Changes in fair value of financial assets
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive incor(Note 24) 10,826 198 94,139
Subtotal(Note 13) 11,207 28¢€ 97,450
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operatior 7,013 (5,478 60,983
Effective portion of changes in fair value
of cash flow hedge(Note 24) (473) 11 (4,116)
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted
for usingequity metho (Note 13) 6 13 57
Subtotal 6,546 (5,452) 56,924
Total other comprehensive incorfidote
31) 17,754 (5,166) 154,375
Comprehensive income ¥ 30,985 ¥ (3/469) $ 269419
Comprehensive income attributable
Owners of theparen ¥ 31,230 ¥ (3,375 $ 271,548
Non-controlling interests (244) (93) (2,129)
Comprehensive income ¥ 30,985 ¥ (3,469) $ 269,419

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



As of 1 January 2021
Profit
Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Total comprehensive income
Issuance of other equity instrumenoie 21)
Other equity instruments issuance coblst¢
21)
Payments of other equity instrume(itote
21)
Distributions to owners of other equity
instruments Nlote 21)
Acquisition of treasury sharéhlote 21)
Disposition of treasury sharé@dote 21)

Dividends(Note 22)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Millions of yen

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Transfer between retained earnings and capital

surplus(Note 21)
Share-based paymerfidote 23)
Issuance of convertible bon¢isote 15)

Changes in interests in consolidated
subsidiaries’ capital

Other Non-
Share Capital  Other equity  Treasury Retained components controlling Total
capital surplus instruments shares earnings of equity Subtotal interests equity
¥ 51,115 ¥ - ¥ 118,735 ¥ (3,735) ¥ 40,452 ¥ (21,148) ¥ 185,420 ¥ 4,475 ¥ 189,895
13,460 13,460 (229) 13,231
17,769 17,769 (15) 17,754
- - - - 13,460 17,769 31,230 (244) 30,985
30,000 30,000 30,00(
(282) (282) (282)
(300) (29,699) (30,000) (30,000
(2,123) (2,123) (2,123
(0) (0) (0)
(325) 1,846 (132) 1,388 1,388
(2,488) (2,488) (87) (2,576
849 (849) - -
58 (33) 25 19 45
253 253 253
(71) (71) 71 -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (caetih

Increase/decrease in non-controlling interests
due to decrease in number of consolidated
subsidiaries

Increase/decrease in equity due to acquisition
of shares in consolidated subsidiaries

Sale of shares of consolidated subsidiaries

Transfer from other components of equity to
retained earnings

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Total transactions with owners of the parent

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Total changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries and others -

As of 31 December 2021 ¥ 51,115 ¥

- (84) (84)
(226) (226) 93 (133)

3 3 11 15

4,365 (4,365) - -

- (11) 18 1,845 (1,095) (4,278) (3,522) 22 (3,499
11 11 (113) (102)

11 - - - - 11 (113) (102)
- ¥118753 ¥ (1,889) ¥ 52817 ¥ (7,657) ¥ 213139 ¥ 4,139 ¥ 217,279

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (caetih

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Thousands of dollars
Equity attributable to owners of the parent

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Other Non-
Share Capital  Other equity  Treasury Retained components controlling Total
capital surplus instruments shares earnings of equity Subtotal interests equity
As of 1 January 2021 $444,446 $ - $1,032,393 $ (32,476) $351,731 $(183,887) $1,612,207 $ 38,914 $1,651,122
Profit 117,040 117,040 (1,996) 115,043
Other comprehensive income (OCI) 154,507 154,507 (132) 154,375
Total comprehensive income - - - - 117,040 154,507 271,548 (2,129) 269,419

Issuance of other equity instrume(itote 21) 260,846 260,846 260,84t
Other equity instruments issuance csigte

21) (2,456) (2,456) (2,456)
Payments of other equity instrume(itote

21) (2,613) (258,233) (260,846) (260,846
Distributions to owners of other equity

instruments Nlote 21) (18,465) (18,465) (18,465
Acquisition of treasury sharéhlote 21) (6) (6) (6)
Disposition of treasury sharé@dote 21) (2,828) 16,052 (1,154) 12,068 12,068
Dividends(Note 22) (21,635) (21,635) (763) (22,398
Transfer between retained earnings to capital

surplus(Note 21) 7,388 (7,388) - -
Share-based paymerfidote 23) 510 (290) 220 170 391
Issuance of convertible bon¢isote 15) 2,202 2,202 2,202
Changes in interests in consolidated

subsidiaries’ capital (621) (621) 621 -



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (caetih

Increase/decrease in non-controlling interests
due to decrease in number of consolidated

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

subsidiaries - (734) (734
Increase/decrease in equity due to acquisition
of shares in consolidated subsidiaries (1,971) (2,971) 809 (1,162)
Sale of shares of consolidated subsidiaries 34 34 96 13C
Transfer from other components of equity to
retained earnings 37,961 (37,961) - -
Total transactions with owners of the parent - (101) 156 16,046 (9,526) (37,204) (30,629) 199 (30,430
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 101 101 (990) (888)
Total changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries and others - 101 - - - - 101 (990) (888)
As of 31 December 2021 $444,446  $ - $1,032,550 $(16,430) $459,245 $(66,583) $1,853,227 $ 35,994 $1,889,222

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (caetih

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Millions of yen
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Other Non-
Share Capital  Other equity  Treasury Retained components controlling Total
capital surplus instruments shares earnings of equity Subtotal interests equity
As of 1 January 2020 ¥ 51,115 ¥ - ¥ 49,505 ¥ (6,319) ¥ 46,399 ¥ (16,695) ¥ 124,006 ¥ 3,800 ¥ 127,807
Profit 1,745 1,745 (49) 1,696
Other comprehensive income (OCI) (5,121) (5,121) (44) (5,166)
Total comprehensive income - - - - 1,745 (5,121) (3,375) (93) (3,469

Issuance of other equity instrumentoie 21) 70,000 70,000 70,00(
Other equity instruments issuance coblst¢

21) (770) (770) (770
Distributions to owners of other equity

instruments Note 21) (1,086) (1,086) (1,086
Acquisition of treasury sharéhlote 21) (0) 0) (0)
Disposition of treasury sharé@dote 21) (933) 2,743 (152) 1,657 1,657
Dividends(Note 22) (4,916) (4,916) (117) (5,034
Transfer between retained earnings and capital

surplus 865 (865) - -
Share-based paymerftdote 23) 3 3) - -
Changes in consolidated subsidiaries (82) (82) 539 A5€
Distribution of equity resulting from

transactions with non-controlling

shareholders (76) (76) 76 -
Changes in interests in consolidated

subsidiaries’ capital 62 62 237 30C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (caetih

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Transfer from other components of equity to
retained earnings (825) 825

Total transactions with owners of the parent - (1) 69,229 2,583 (7,692) 668 64,787 735 65,520
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 1 1 32 34
Total changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries and others - 1 - - - - 1 32 34
As of 31 December 2020 ¥ 51,115 ¥ - ¥ 118,735 ¥ (3,735) ¥ 40,452 ¥ (21,148) ¥ 185,420 ¥ 4,475 ¥ 189,895

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before income taxes ¥ 19,609 ¥ 5,106 $ 170,499
Depreciation and amortization 21,894 24,118 190,369
Loss (gain) on sales or disposal of
property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets 230 (387) 2,007
Financial income and costs 3,489 5,042 30,342
Share of (profits) losses of associates and
joint ventures accounted for using equity
method (30) 526 (269)
Other non-cash transactions (817) (4,632) (7,110)
Changes in asset and liability items:
Inventories (4,130) (217) (35,911)
Trade and other receivables (15,479) 12,498 (134,593)
Trade and other payables (406) (10,106) (3,530)
Contract liabilities 30,599 (3,802) 266,057
Provisions 5,937 (1,737) 51,622
Other (2,451) (1,323) (21,317)
Subtotal 58,444 25,085 508,165
Interest received 354 260 3,081
Dividends received 84 104 732
Interest paid (3,464) (3,394) (30,121)
Income taxes paid (5,685) (8,408) (49,433)
Net cash flows from operating activities 49,733 13,647 432,425
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (12,645) (12,062) (109,951)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and
equipment 1,210 2,211 10,522
Purchases of intangible assets (10,606) (8,080) (92,224)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired resulting in change in scope of
consolidation - (130) -
Payments for sale of shares of subsidiaries
resulting in change in scope of
consolidation (399) - (3,477)
Acquisition of associates, net of cash
acquired (276) (137) (2,399)
Purchases of investment securities (1,518) (747) (13,201)
Proceeds from sales imivestment
securities 5,440 75 47,300
Other (580) 12 (5,047)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (19,376) (18,859) (168,479)
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Fiscal year ended 31 December 2021

Cash flows from/(used in) financing
activities:

Net increase in short-term borrowings

Proceeds from long-term borrowings

Repayments of long-term borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of convertible
bonds

Payments for bond redemption

Proceeds from issuance of other equity
instrumentgNote 21)

Repayments of other equity instruments
(Note 21)

Repayment of lease liabiliti€blote 17)

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Acquisition of treasury shares

Payments for obligations for non-
controlling interests

Distributions to owners of other equity
instrumentgNote 21)

Proceeds from increase in capital of
subsidiaries

Purchase of shares of subsidiaries not
resulting in change in scope of
consolidation

Proceeds from sale of shares of
subsidiaries not resulting in change in
scope of consolidation

Others

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing
activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
period(Note 7)

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021

¥ (21,730) ¥ 2,680 $ (188,942)
5,000 37,801 43,474
(20,882) (46,148) (181,574)
39,887 - 346,821
(10,000) - (86,948)
29,717 69,229 258,390
(30,000) - (260,846)
(6,035) (5,780) (52,479)
(2,496) (4,917) (21,708)
(299) (121) (2,607)
() ) (6)

(8) (42,289) (75)
(2,123) (1,086) (18,465)
- 300 -
(133) - (1,162)
15 - 130
820 1,125 7,138
(18,270) 10,792 (158,862)
1,459 478 12,685
13,544 6,058 117,768
33,754 27,695 293,490
¥ 47,298 ¥ 33,754 $ 411,258
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1.

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reporting Entity

DMG MORI Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a company ddished under the Companies Act of Japan. The
Company is domiciled in Japan and its registerédeois located at 106 Kitakoriyama-cho, Yamato-
Koriyama City, Nara.

The consolidated financial statements of the Compengf and for the fiscal year ended 31 Decemb2t 20
(the fiscal year 2021) comprise the Company, itss&liaries, associates and joint ventures (collelsti the
“Group”). The Group engages in businesses relatadanufacturing and sales of machine tools (macgini
centers, turning centers, turn-mill complete maicigrcenters and universal milling machines for farés
machining), software (user interface, technologgley and embedded software) and measuring dewnes,
provides total solutions utilizing the machine mosoftware and measuring devices with service aipp
applications and engineering.

2.
1)

)

3)

(4)

Basis of Preparation

Compliance with IFRS

The Company’s consolidated financial statements h@en prepared in accordance wiitiiernational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued byirtternational Accounting Standards Board. As the
Company meets the requirements of a “Specified Goy@applying Designated International Financial
Reporting Standards,” pursuant to Article 1-2 af @rdinance on Terminology, Forms and Preparation
Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements (@mite of the Ministry of Finance No. 28 of 1976, the
“Consolidated Financial Statements Ordinance™has applied the provisions of Article 93 of said
Ordinance.

Basis of measurement
As stated below ifNote 3, “Significant Accounting Policies,” the consoliddtfinancial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis, withnthé exception of financial instruments which are
measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presentdapanese yen, which is the Company’s functional
currencyAll financial information presented in Japaneselyasbeen rounded down to the nearest million,
unless otherwise stated.

The translation of Japanese yen amounts to U.Sardmthounts is included solely for the convenierfce o
readers outside Japan, using the prevailing exeheaitg of ¥115.01 to U.S. $1.00 as of 31 December
2021. This translation should not be construed espeesentation that the Japanese yen amounts have
been, could have been or could in the future heyexted into U.S. dollars at the above or any othtr.

Authorization for issue of consolidated financigtements
The consolidated financial statements of the Groapevapproved at the Board of Directors’ meeting of
the Company held on 22 March 2022.

Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies of the Group apelied continuously to all the years indicatethia
consolidated financial statements, unless otherstased.
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(1)

(2)

3)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

Basis of consolidation

All financial statements included in the consolathfinancial statements are prepared as of 31 Dasmem
2021, in accordance with the unified accountinggeed and, when necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to brir@rtaccounting policies into line with those o {Group.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for usingafaisition method. The consideration transferred fo
the acquisition of a business is the aggregatieeoftquisition date fair value of the assets teansdl, the
equity interests issued by the Group and the li@slassumed, including the fair value of any tsee
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideoatiarrangement.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities andtitgent liabilities assumed resulting from a besm
combination are, in principle, measured at faiueadt the acquisition date.

In a business combination achieved in stages, aewiqusly held equity investment before obtaining
control is remeasured at its acquisition-dateviaiue and any resulting gain or loss is recogniaquofit

or loss.

For each business combination, the Group choosaadthod of measurement of non-controlling interest
which can be measured using one of two basesy @itHair value at the acquisition date or at tba-n
controlling interest’s proportionate share of thguiree’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition4etbcosts
are expensed as incurred. Any excess of the coasigle transferred over the fair value of the idf@tile
assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recedriz goodwill in the consolidated statement alrfaial
position.

Goodwill is allocated to a cash generating unit@lC) or group of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from synergies of the business combination. Ifahunt of transferred assets is less than thedhie

of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, ifferehce is recognized directly in profit or lo&oodwill

is not amortized in accordance with IFRS 3 “Busin€@smbinations” and IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets.”
Equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directlyimdirectly, to the parent is recognized as nontmdimg
interest. Total comprehensive income is attributethe owners of the parent and to the non-coimigl|
interest even if this results in the non-contrgjlinterest having a deficit balance. Changes irttaup’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not ltaauthe loss of control is accounted for as anigqg
transaction. If the Group, however, loses contfa subsidiary, any resulting effects are recoghiae
gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to tAeoup.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if antly if the Group has all of the following:

(@) Power over the investee,

(b) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns fromiritvolvement with the investee and

(c) The ability to use its power over the investeaffect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Graloiains control over the subsidiary and ceaseswhe
the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

All intercompany transactions, balances, and amgalized gains and losses arising from intercompany
transactions, are eliminated in the preparatiomeiconsolidated financial statements.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group gigsificant influence but does not have control to
govern the entity’s financial and operating pokcie

The Group’s investments in its associates are ateduor using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in an associate is initi@tognized at cost and adjusted to recognize @sang
the Group’s share of net assets of the associatethé acquisition date. Goodwill relating to #ssociate

is included in the carrying amount of the investimen

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflebe results of operations of the Group’s propasi
interest in its associates. Any changes in the @soproportional interest in its associates aridiogn
changes in other comprehensive income of thoseiasse after the acquisition date are present@dids

of the Group’s other comprehensive income.

When there has been a change recognized directtgtéined earnings of the associate, the Group
recognizes its share of any changes in its retagaedings.

The carrying amount of the investment is adjustetttmgnize any change in the Group’s share of net
assets of the associate since the acquisition \@4ten the Group’s share of losses in an assodiatal®

or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Gdoeg not recognize further losses, unless itiasgied
obligations or made payments on behalf of the datmnc

At each reporting date, the Group determines wheiigze is objective evidence that an investmeanin
associate is impaired. If there is such eviderwoe,Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of theciate and its carrying amount, and then recognize
the loss as “Other operating costs” in the conatdid statement of profit or loss. Unrealized gaind
losses resulting from transactions between the G associates are eliminated to the extenteof th
Group's interest in the associate.

Joint ventures

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangemergre/two or more parties have joint control.

The Group determines the type of joint agreementtiich it is involved. The classification of a joint
arrangement as joint operation where the Grougights to the assets and obligations for the litiéd

of the arrangement, or a joint venture where theu@rhas rights to the net assets of the arrangement
depends upon the rights and obligations of theqsatd the arrangement.

For a joint operation, the Group recognizes ite@ssncluding its share of any assets held jgintly
liabilities, including its share of any liabilitiescurred jointly, revenues, including its share awfy
revenues incurred jointly and expenses, includimghare of any expenses incurred jointly. The @sou
interest in a joint venture is accounted for ughng equity method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on kdantind deposits, and readily-marketable short-term
investments with maturities of three months or fesm the date of acquisition, which are subjecamo
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost bresizable value. The cost of inventories inclide
purchase costs, costs of conversion and all otb&ts incurred in bringing the inventories to theesent
location and condition.

Net realizable value is calculated as the estimsédithg price for the inventories in the ordinagurse
of business, less the estimated costs of complatidithe estimated costs necessary to make the sale
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(8)

(9)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

Cost of inventories is basically determined by theerage cost method, except for the following
inventories to which the Specific identification tmed is applied.

Specific identification method is applied to invenés such as:

(@) Inventories that are not interchangeable and

(b) Inventories produced for specific projects apdregated from other inventories.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is measured usingdlse model and is stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairftasies. Such cost includes any costs directly
attributable to the purchase of the assets. Rapdimaintenance costs are recognized in profiiss &s
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment bggihen the asset is available for use, on a striigh
basis, over the following estimated useful lives:

Plant and equipment : 3-50 years
Machinery and vehicles : 2-30 years
Tools, furniture and fixtures . 2-23 years

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets are measured using the cost rmadedre stated at cost less accumulated amaotizati

and accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill arising on a business combination is rexped as “Goodwill” in the consolidated statemeint o

financial position. Goodwill and intangible assefh indefinite useful lives are not amortized, lawe

tested for impairment annually and any respectmpairment losses are recognized when necessary.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot beersed in future periods.

Development costs on an individual project are gaczed as an intangible asset, only if all of the

following have been demonstrated:

(&) The technical feasibility of completing the imfigble asset so that it will be available for ussale

(b) The Group’s intention to complete and use drtkelintangible assgt

(c) The Group’s ability to use or sell the intangibkset

(d) How the intangible asset will generate probdilere economic benefits

(e) The availability of appropriate technical, ficé&@l and other resources to complete the developmen
and to use or sell the intangible asseid

() The ability to measure reliably the expendittefated to the intangible asset during its develapm

Capitalized development costs are amortized orraght-line basis beginning when development is

completed and the asset is available for use tvegpériod of expected future benefit. Developmests

which do not meet the above criteria are expensedcarred.

Other intangible assets are amortized on a stréiigdhbasis over the following estimated usefuésv

Intangible assets generated by development : 2edfxy

Software and other intangible assets : 1-5 years
Customer-related assets : 15 years (approximately)
Technology-related assets . 6 years (approximately)
Trademarks (with definite useful lives) : 30 years
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(10) Leases

(11)

(Lessees)

At the lease commencement date of the lease, thgpGecognizes a lease liability measured at tegnt
value of the remaining lease payments that argaiot at that date. The lease liabilities are inaluihe
“Other financial liabilities” in the consolidatethsement of financial position.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Graxggrézes a right-of-use asset initially measurdtet
amount of the initial measurement of lease liab#itljusted for any initial direct costs, the preplaiase
payments, restoration costs and other costs.

After the initial measurement, the right-of-useed$s depreciated on a straight-line basis ovesliueter
of the lease term or the estimated useful lifehefunderlying asset, and the lease payment isatdiddo
the principal portion and the interest portiontwe# tease liability using an effective interest noethin the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the mderexpenses on the lease liabilities are included
“Financial costs,” separately from the depreciatibnight-of-use assets.

At the inception of the contract, the Group assesseether a contract is, or contains a lease barséue
substance of the contract regardless of wheth&agtd form is a lease.

The Group elects not to recognize right-of-use asmed lease liabilities for short-term leases wwithi2
months and leases of low-value assets and recagtiiedease payments associated with those leases a
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

(Lessors)

At the commencement of a lease contract, the Getagsifies a lease as a finance lease transattion i
transfers substantially all the risks and rewandgdiental to ownership of an underlying asset, ahthe
other leases as operating lease transactions.

At the commencement date, the Group derecognizertherlying asset in a finance lease transactiwh, a
recognizes the net investment in the lease measiithé present value of the total lease receigahiat
have not been collected at that date, discountieag tise interest rate implicit in the lease.

The Group continues to recognize the underlyingtassan operating lease transaction. Total lease
payments received from the lessee are recognizedt@se on a straight-line basis over the leasa.ter

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whiaéneris any indication that all fixed assets edirig
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives dmak have not yet been brought into use and goganaly

be impaired. If any indication exists, the Groupineates the asset’s recoverable amount. When the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recovesatrint, the asset is considered impaired andstet a

is written down to its recoverable amount. A CGUhs smallest group of assets which generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely indegent of those from other assets or groups of asset
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite uddives are not amortized but tested for impairinen
annually regardless of whether an indication ofampent exists. When the recoverable amount of the
asset is less than its carrying amount, an impaitihess is recognized.

The recoverable amount of CGU is the higher of taerin use and the fair value less costs of dapos
In assessing value in use, the estimated fututeftags are discounted to their present value uaipge-

tax discount rate that reflects current marketsssents of the time value of money and the risksifip

to the asset.

The estimated present value based on future cash ff@orporates assumptions about future sales,pric
sales volume and costs. The key assumptions aceilols inNote 11, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.”
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(12)

(13)
1.

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

For fixed assets, excluding goodwill, an assessrsemtade at each reporting date to determine whethe
there is an indication that previously recognizegbairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. Any reversal of a previous impairmelimised so that the carrying amount of the assetsd
not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceedatrgicg amount (net of depreciation) that wouldéav
been determined had no impairment loss been repegjfior the asset in prior years.

Income taxes

Income taxes consist of current and deferred ta@aegent and deferred taxes are recognized intpwofi

loss, except for those arising from business coathlins and recognized directly in other comprehansi

income or equity.

Deferred tax is provided using the asset and Itghihethod on temporary differences between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrgimgunts for financial reporting purposes, includiagry

forwards of unused tax losses and tax credits gdaait the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deded#mporary differences, the carry forwards ofsetl

tax losses and any unused tax credits to the etttanit is probable that taxable profit will beadiable

against which the deductible temporary differerae loe utilized. Deferred tax liabilities are recizgad
for all taxable temporary differences in principle.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaedll taxable temporary differences, except:

(@) Future taxable temporary differences arisiogfinitial recognition of goodwill.

(b) Future taxable or deductible differences retatio initial recognition of an asset or liability a
transaction other than a business combinatiorafffedtts neither accounting profit nor taxable grofi
or loss.

(c) Future taxable temporary differences associatétinvestments in subsidiaries when the timifig o
the reversal of the temporary differences can Im¢ratbed and it is probable that such differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(d) Future deductible temporary differences assediavith investments in subsidiaries when it is
probable that such differences will not reversthimforeseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offsetldfgally enforceable right exists to set off cutraxx assets

against current tax liabilities and the deferrexetarelate to income taxes levied by the sameitaxat

authority on the same taxable entity.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

(i) Initial recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are initially recoghiaa the date when they are incurred, and other
financial assets at the transaction date when thafgecomes a party to the contract for the firsnc
assets. At initial recognition, financial assets mreasured at fair value plus transaction costgpix
for those measured at fair value through profibss.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement
The financial assets are classified as financiattasmeasured at amortized cost, financial assets
measured at fair value through other compreherisome or financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss at initial recognition.

(Financial assets measured at amortized cost)
A financial asset shall be measured at amortizetlitboth of the following conditions are met:
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

- The financial asset is held within a business medwlse objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows and

- The contractual terms of the financial asset gaean specified dates to cash flows that areysolel
payments of principal and interest on the princgrabunt outstanding.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost areuneebat amortized cost using the effective interes
method subsequent to initial recognition.

(Financial assets measured at fair value throulglratomprehensive income)

Equity instruments such as shares held mainly fer ghrpose of maintaining or strengthening
business relationships with investees are desigratimitial recognition as financial assets meegur

at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Any change in fair value of equity financial assae&asured at fair value through other comprehensive
income is recognized in other comprehensive incentsequent to initial recognition. If such assets
are derecognized or the fair value decreases gignify, cumulative gain or loss recognized in othe
comprehensive income is directly transferred taineid earnings. Dividends from such financial
assets are recognized in profit or loss.

Debt instrument financial assets which meet botih@tbelow requirements are classified as financial
assets measured at fair value through other corapsale income.

- The financial asset is held within a business madhelse objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial asaats

- The contractual terms of the financial asset gaean specified dates to cash flows that areysolel
payments of principal and interest on the princgrabunt outstanding.

(Financial assets measured at fair value througfit@r loss)

Financial assets other than above are classifiidawial assets measured at fair value througfitpr
or loss.

Changes in fair value of financial assets measatddir value through profit or loss are recognized
in profit or loss subsequent to initial recognition

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
For financial assets measured at amortized céstyahce for doubtful receivables for expected dredi
losses is recognized.
The Group evaluates at the end of each reportinggpathether there is a significant increase initred
risk of financial assets since initial recognitidhen there is no significant increase in the ¢nésk
since initial recognition, the amount equal to ff#emonth expected credit losses is recognized as
allowance for doubtful receivables. When there Egmificant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the amount equal to the lifetime exeécredit losses of the financial assets is reicegn
as allowance for doubtful receivables.
For trade and other receivables, allowance for tolieceivables is always recognized at the amount
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses offitencial assets.
With regard to financial assets on which impairmiesses were previously recognized, when the
amount of impairment losses decreased due to amt #vat occurred after the initial recognition of
the impairment losses, the previously recognizepainment losses are reversed and recognized in
profit or loss.

(iv) Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the coniedeights to receive the cash flows from the
financial asset expire or when the contractualtsigh receive the cash flows from the financiakass
are transferred and substantially all the risksramcards of ownership are transferred.

2. Financial liabilities
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(i) Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognized &gt transaction date when the Group becomes atparty
the contract for the financial liabilities. All famcial liabilities are measured at fair value atigéh
recognition, whereas financial liabilities measuat@émortized cost are measured at the amount less
directly attributable transaction costs.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified into financlalbilities measured at fair value through profitoss
or financial liabilities measured at amortized catsinitial recognition.
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities meaeed at fair value through profit or loss are ratdngd
in profit or loss subsequent to the initial recdigmi.
Financial liabilities measured at amortized costraeasured at amortized cost subsequent to tka init
recognition, by using the effective interest methtahortization by the effective interest method, as
well as gains and losses associated with deredogsihall be recognized in profit or loss.

(iii) Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when it isteaguished, namely when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(iv) Preferred shares
Preferred shares are classified as either equfigamcial liabilities based on the terms and ctiods
in the contractual agreement, rather than the legal. Preferred shares that can be redeemed on a
specific date are recognized as financial lialk#itiPreferred shares recognized as financialitiabil
are measured at amortized cost on the consoliddégéement of financial position. Dividends for
preferred shares are recognized as payments eéshtend are recorded in financial costs on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with het amount presented in the consolidated statsroé
financial position, only if the Group holds a legajht to offset the recognized amounts, and teen
intention to settle on a net basis or to realizeabset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivatives, such as forward foreigrency exchange contracts and interest rate swaps
as hedging instruments against foreign currenchaxge risk and interest rate risk. These derivaigre
classified as financial assets measured at fairevrough profit or loss and financial liabilitiseeasured

at fair value through profit or loss. Derivativést meet the criteria for hedge accounting aregdeséd

as hedging instruments, and hedge accounting isedpfror the application of hedge accounting, the
Group officially makes designation and preparesudwntation at the inception of the hedge, regarding
the hedging relationship as well as the risk mamegge objectives and strategies. Such documentation
includes the hedging instruments, hedged itemsnalgre of the risks to be hedged and the method fo
evaluating the hedge effectiveness. The Group moally evaluates whether the hedging relationship i
effective prospectively.

The Group applies hedge accounting to cash flow é®dgvolving interest rate-related derivative
transactions that meet the criteria for hedge autrog. Of changes in fair value associated withgiregl
instruments in cash flow hedges, the effectiveiporis recognized in other comprehensive incomd, an
recognized in other components of equity untilibdged transaction affects profit or loss. The ewive
portion is recognized in profit or loss.

The amount associated with hedging instruments rézed in other components of equity is reclassified
to profit or loss, at the point in time when thelped transactions affect profit or loss. If a hetigem

20



(14)

(15)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

results in the recognition of a non-financial asseta non-financial liability, the associated amioun
recognized in other components of equity is acamlifdr as an adjustment to the initial carrying anto

of the non-financial asset or the non-financidlility. When any forecast transaction is no longgvected

to occur, hedge accounting is discontinued, and ratgted cumulative gain or loss that has been
recognized in other components of equity is rediasisto profit or loss. Even if hedge accountingswa
discontinued, the amount that had been recognizether components of equity until hedge accounting
was discontinued continues to be recognized inratbmponents of equity until estimated future cash
flows occur. The Group does not use fair value bedwr net investment hedges in foreign operations.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has adeganstructive obligation as a result of a ma&nt,

it is probable that an outflow of resources embogdyeconomic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be madehefamount of the obligation. The amount to be
recognized as a provision is measured based dreiteestimate of the expenditure required to sitte
present obligation at the end of the reportingqukrif the effect of the time value of money is arétl,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-dé that reflects, when appropriate, the risksifipdo

the liability.

Employee benefits

The Group recognizes the undiscounted amount ofshoyt-term benefits attributable to services that
have been rendered in the period as an expensen 8/peesent legal or constructive obligation to enak
payments associated with bonus plans or accumglpéiid absences exists, and a reliable estimateof
provision can be made, the amount to be paid iordence with these benefits is accounted for as a
liability.

Defined benefit obligations are measured usingptiogected unit credit method. This actuarial method
also determines the current service cost and astyspavice costs.

Under this method, The Group not only recognizsehmensions and pension rights recognized or isdurr
on the last day of the reporting period, but atsasider future increases in retirement benefitssataties,
which are factors that affect retirement benefits.

The valuation is based on a report prepared by ertl#gnt actuaries.

Net defined benefit liabilities are based on thespnt value of the defined benefit obligation tbssfair
value of plan assets at the reporting date.

The present value of a defined benefit obligatiobased on the discounted future cash flows atea rat
determined by reference to market yield on highliuaorporate bonds whose currency and term are
consistent with the obligation.

Actuarial differences arising from changes in agflaassumptions and experience adjustments are
recognized immediately in other comprehensive iredmthe consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Past service costs are recognized immediatelydfit jor loss.

The contribution payable for a defined contributan in exchange for employee service is recognized
as an expense, unless another IFRS requires oitpésrcapitalization.

When there is a surplus in a defined benefit plam net defined benefit asset recognized is réstiito

the lower of the surplus in the plan and the assiéihg.

(16) Equity and equity instruments

1. Common stock
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Equity instruments issued by the Company are incluihe Share capital and capital surplus.
Transaction costs related to the issuance of eqmstyuments are deducted from capital surplus.

Treasury shares

When the Company repurchases its own ordinary shéne amount of the consideration paid,
including transaction costs, is deducted from gqufithen the Company sells or reissues treasury
shares, the consideration received is recognizedtti in equity, and the gain or loss resultirfir

the transaction is included in capital surplus.

Perpetual subordinated loans and perpetual duadsed bonds

Perpetual subordinated loans and perpetual sutzdedirbonds are classified as equity instruments
if the Group has the option to defer repaymenthef principal and interest payments and no
obligation. The proceeds from the perpetual subatdihloan and perpetual subordinated bonds,
after deduction of issuance costs, are recorde®tmr equity instruments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(17) Share-based payments

1.

Stock option

The Group has stock option plans as incentive glamgdirectors and employees that are accounted
for as equity-settled share-based payment tramsactlhe fair value of stock options at the grant
date is recognized as a personnel cost over thimggseriod from the grant date as a corresponding
increase in other components of equity. The faloeraf the stock options is measured using the
Black-Scholes model or other models, taking intcoaat for the terms of the options granted. The
Group regularly reviews the terms and revises egémof the number of options that are expected
to vest, as necessary.

Restricted share remuneration plan

The Group has adopted a restricted share remunerglimn as equity-settled share-based
remuneration for directors.

The amount of the consideration for services to towiged is measured at the fair value of the
Company shares as of the grant date, which is eegean a straight-line basis over the vesting
period from the grant date and the same amouprt@gnized as an increase in equity.
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3.  Trust-type employee stock ownership incentiaspl
The Group has adopted a “Trust-Type Employee Stockddship Incentive Plan” as a cash-settled
incentive plan for its employees to increase the tmilong-term corporate value of the Group.
Under this plan, the Company shares owned by “DMGRWEmployee Shareholders Association
Exclusive Trust” are treated as treasury shares.
The amount of the consideration for services torbeiged is measured at fair value of the liabititie
incurred, which is expensed over the effectivequenf the trust from the grant date and the same
amount is recognized as an increase in liabilifiée liabilities are remeasured at fair value abef
end of each reporting period until settlement, #redchanges in fair value are recognized in profit
or loss.

(18) Revenue recognition
The Group recognizes revenues from contracts wikoowers by applying the following five-step
approach.
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in ¢batract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the penfince obligations in the contracts
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the emtitsfies a performance obligation
The Group engages in businesses related to manuf@actand sales of machine tools and provides
services and solutions for the machine tools atate® business areas. Sales of machine tools are
recognized when control of the product is transféto customers (usually at the time of shipmefinai
acceptance) based on the contract. For the providigervices and solutions, which consist mairfly o
maintenance and recovery services, revenue is memmjwhen the performance obligation defined & th
contract is satisfied (usually when the servicesdmlivered, etc.).
The consideration for the transaction is receivegr@pmately within one year of fulfilling the
performance obligation, except in cases whenriédgived as advances received prior to the sdiisfac
of the performance obligations, and does not irekidnificant financial components.
Revenue is measured at the amount of the promisesideration in a contract with a customer less
discounts and rebates, and net of the amount e$ sefurns.

(19) Financial income
Interest income is recorded using the effectiverggt method.
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’strighreceive payment is established.

(20) Government grants
Government grants are recognized at fair value avtteare is reasonable assurance that the grartiewill
received and all attached conditions will be coegbhvith. When the grant relates to an expense item,
is recognized as income on a systematic basistbegueriods in which the related costs, for whicis i
intended to compensate, are expensed.
When the grant relates to an asset, it is recodrasencome in equal amounts over the expectedlusef
life of the related asset and as deferred incoméhforemaining portion in the consolidated statenoé
financial position.

(21) Borrowing costs
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acifios, construction or production of qualifying ats
that necessarily take a substantial period of tionget ready for their intended use or sale ardalaed
as part of the cost of the assets. All other boimgwosts are expensed for the year when they occur

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are initiallgaeled by Group entities at their respective fuomal
currency spot rates at the date the transactishdiralifies for recognition.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries @emslated into Japanese yen using the closincatates
reporting date and income and expense items argatad using the average exchange rates for thealpe
The exchange differences arising on translationimdncial statements of foreign subsidiaries are
recognized in other comprehensive income and theutative effect from the exchange differences is
recognized in “Other components of equity” in tlomsolidated statement of financial position.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated inifprecurrencies are translated using the functional
currency spot rates at the reporting date.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair ialadoreign currency are translated using the angh
rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Non-monetary items that are measured in termssbdfi¢al cost in a foreign currency are translatsidg

the exchange rates at the dates of the initiab&etions.

The gain or loss arising on settlements or tramsidt recognized in profit or loss.

Any goodwill and other intangible assets arisingtlom acquisition of a foreign operation and any fai
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assetdiabilities arising on the acquisition areatesl as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation tradslated at the spot rate of exchange at thartieg
date.

Significant accounting judgments, estimatesd assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statemestpuires management of the Group to make

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affecapplication of accounting policies and the regubrt

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimatekl cesult in outcomes that require a material

adjustment to the carrying amount of assets oilii@ls affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an onbasig.

Changes in accounting estimates @axsunted for prospectively; defined as recognizing the effect of the

change in the accounting estimate in the currethffature periods affected by the change.

In the process of applying the Group’s accountimiicfies, management has made the following

estimations and judgments, which have a significaht of resulting in a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in tbasolidated financial statements within the nesed
year :

1. Impairment of property, plant and equipment,dyaiti and other intangible assets (“(11) Impairment
of non-financial assets” iNote 3 “Significant Accounting Policies,Note 10 “Property, Plant and
Equipment,”’Note 11 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” aNdte 38 “Events after Reporting
Period”)

An impairment test is performed annually or at &#me if indications of impairment exist.

For the impairment testing of property, plant andipment, goodwill and other intangible assets,
the recoverable amount is defined as the high&aiofalue less costs of disposal and value in use
based on the identified cash generating units.
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The key assumptions, including the measurementiotéue less cost of disposal, the cash flows
that the Group will derive from the use and dispaeabrder to calculate the value in use of thehca
generating unit and the respective discount rasahange due to market changes or circumstances
arising that are beyond the control of the Grougcakdingly, significant adjustments to recoverable
amounts in the consolidated financial statementdHe next fiscal year may occunformation
about uncertainties in assumptions and estimatgdtve a risk of causing significant adjustments
to the carrying amounts of goodwill and other igfiate assets in the next fiscal year is included in
Note 11, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

Furthermore, in Russia, the Group owns a factoryife assembly of machine tools in Ulyanovsk,
and a sales and service branch in Moscow. At theoéthe fiscal year 2021, the carrying amount of
the property, plant and equipment owned by the aidsian subsidiaries was ¥7,869 million
($68,420 thousand). As describedNote 38, “Events after Reporting Period,” as of the filidgte

of the annual securities report, production afdleéory and business activities at the sales amnvicge
branch had been suspended, and there are indedtianthe property, plant, and equipment owned
by the subsidiaries have been impaired. The simat Russia and Ukraine involves global political
uncertainties, and given that no date for the tutasumption of business activities has been décide
there is a risk that, following changes in the hass environment going forward, significant
adjustments to the recoverable amount will be @mdin the consolidated financial statements for
the next fiscal year.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets (“(12pime taxes” ilNote 3 “Significant Accounting Policies”
andNote 20 “Income Taxes")

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductiéngporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be avhiaagainst which they can be utilized. However,
judgment of the recoverability is based on the fsemf estimated taxable income estimated from
business plans of the Group. The estimation ofl@xiacome may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising that are beyond the contfotlhe Group and, accordingly, significant
adjustments to the recognized amount of deferredsaets may occur in the consolidated financial
statements for the next fiscal year.

Financial liabilities arising from the Dominaticand Profit and Loss Transfer Agreement (the
“DPLTA") (“(13) Financial instruments” iNote 3 “Significant Accounting Policies” antote 34
“Domination and Profit and Loss Transfer Agreemgnt”

The Group estimates the amount of its obligatiosiragifrom the entry into force of the DPLTA for
the share purchase option and the annual compensatiount at the end of the reporting period
based on a re-purchase price per share, annualecsadipn amount per share and the number of
outstanding shares. At the same time, the Grougpnedly estimates the expected payment timing
and recognizes the present discounted value aidiabliabilities arising from the DPLTA.

The conditions for purchase and payment of sham$utinre economic conditions may change and,
accordingly, significant adjustments to the measa of the liability may occur in the consolidated
financial statements for the next fiscal year.
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4. New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted by th&roup

There was no significant change of the new accogrgiandards, amended standards and new interpretati
that are issued or amended, but not yet adoptethdoyGroup up to the date of authorization for isetie
consolidated financial statements.

5. Significant Change in Scope of Consolidation
There was no significant change in scope of conatiid during the fiscal years 2021 and 2020.
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Segment Information

Outline of reportable segments

The operating segments of the Group are based obugimess areas for which discrete financial
information is available, and they are regularljiee/ed by the Board of Directors and corporateceffs

for the purpose of making decisions about resowrtecation and performance assessment. The
classification of the operating segments is basethe products and services and the associatetahte
reporting and management methods.

As a result, the business activities of the Growe aategorized into “Machine Tools” and “Industrial
Services,” as its two reportable segmeifitee Group has not aggregated its operating segments.

The “Machine Tools” segment generates its reventaugh the production and sales of machine tools.
The “Industrial Services” segment generates itsmagghrough providing services and solutions relate
to machine tools.

Calculation methods of sales revenues, incontess, assets and other items by each reportagfaent
The accounting methods for the reportable segmeatsssentially the same as those describbidtia3,
“Significant Accounting Policies.”

The amount of segment income is based on operatamgrie and Share of profits (losses) of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using equity meithioter-segment sales revenues are baseatrofs
length prices.

Segment sales revenues and income

The segment sales revenues, income or loss anditetimsrby each reportable segment for the fiscals/e
2021 and 2020 are summarized as follows:
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Sales revenues
External customers
Inter-segment

Total

Segment income

(Note 1)

Financial income
Financial costs
Profit before income

taxes

Segment assets

(Note 2)

Other items
Depreciation and

amortization
Investments in

associates and joint

ventures
Capital expenditure

(Note 1)

Millions of yen

2021
Reportable segments Adjustments
Machine Industrial Corporate

Tools Services Total Services Elimination  Consolidated
¥ 266,662 ¥ 129,321 ¥ 395,983 ¥ 27 ¥ - ¥ 396,011
166,217 23,863 190,080 1,510 (191,590) -
432,880 153,184 586,064 1,538 (191,590) 396,011
19,404 16,829 36,234 (14,416) 1,281 23,098

- - - - - 429

- - - - - (3,919)

- - - - - 19,609
811,462 543,782 1,355,245 410,075 (1,168,203) 597,117
11,033 6,249 17,283 4,611 - 21,894

- 5,704 5,704 - - 5,704
¥ 14,532 ¥ 6,966 ¥ 21,498 ¥ 8,227 ¥ (437) ¥ 29,287

expenses related to corporate services.

(Note 2)

business segment and elimination of inter-segnmesgivables.

(Note 3)
assets.

“Adjustments to segment income” includenelation of inter-segment transactions and
“Adjustments to segment assets” mainhyjuide corporate assets not attributable to any

Depreciation, amortization and capitalendiitures include amounts related to right-of-use
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Sales revenues
External customers
Inter-segment

Total

Segment income

(Note 1)

Financial income
Financial costs
Profit before income

taxes

Segment assets

(Note 2)

Other items
Depreciation and

amortization
Investments in

associates and joint

ventures
Capital expenditure

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Reportable segments Adjustments
Machine Industrial Corporate

Tools Services Total Services Elimination Consolidated
$2,318,602 $1,124,434 $ 3,443,036 $241 $- $ 3,443,278

1,445,247 207,486 1,652,734 13,131 (1,665,857) -
3,763,849 1,331,921 5,095,770 13,372 (1,665,857) 3,443,278
168,721 146,332 315,053 (125,353) 11,141 200,841

- - - - - 3,735

- - - - - (34,078)
- - - - - 170,499
7,055,580 4,728,135 11,783,715 3,565,566 (10,157,405) 5,191,876
95,934 54,340 150,275 40,094 - 190,369
- 49,603 49,603 - - 49,603
$ 126,356 $ 60,572 $ 186,928 $ 71,535 $ (3,808) $ 254,655

(Note 1)  “Adjustments to segment income” includen@lation of inter-segment transactions and

expenses related to corporate services.

(Note 2)  “Adjustments to segment assets” mainhyluide corporate assets not attributable to any
business segment and elimination of inter-segnmesgivables.
(Note 3) Depreciation, amortization and capitalendiitures include amounts related to right-of-use

assets.
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Sales revenues
External customers
Inter-segment

Total

Segment income

(Note 1)

Financial income
Financial costs
Profit before income

taxes

Segment assets

(Note 2)

Other items
Depreciation and

amortization
Investments in

associates and joint

ventures
Capital expenditure

Millions of yen

2020
Reportable segments Adjustments
Machine Industrial Corporate

Tools Services Total Services Elimination  Consolidated
¥ 228,201 ¥ 100,061 ¥ 328,262 ¥21 ¥ - ¥ 328,283
150,244 19,313 169,558 1,433 (170,991) -
378,445 119,374 497,820 1,454 (170,991) 328,283
16,944 9,949 26,893 (17,864) 1,119 10,148

- - - - - 357

- - - - - (5,399)

- - - - - 5,106
763,470 481,850 1,245,320 401,435 (1,120,229) 526,526
11,996 7,382 19,378 4,739 - 24,118

- 5,222 5,222 - - 5,222
¥ 12,492 ¥ 7,351 ¥ 19,843 ¥6,614 ¥ (534) ¥ 25,924

(Note 1)  “Adjustments to segment income” includenelation of inter-segment transactions and

expenses related to corporate services.

(Note 2)  “Adjustments to segment assets” includeparate assets not attributable to each business

segment and elimination of inter-segment receivable

(Note 3) Depreciation and amortization and cagtadenditures include amounts related to right-of-

use assets.

Changes related to reportable segments
Changes in calculation methods
Beginning in the fiscal year 2021, the method bycitorporate expenses are allocated was changed
in order to reflect a more appropriate assessnfahegerformance of reportable segments.
Furthermore, because it is difficult to obtain th®rmation required to prepare segment information
for the previous fiscal year based on the clasgific of reportable segments used in the fiscal 3@2a1,
figures for the previous fiscal year are basedhendassification methods used in the previousafisc

year.

(4) Information on products and services

As the classification for the reportable segmentsised on the type of products and services @tbep,

there is no additional information to be disclosed.
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Information on geographical areas
Sales revenues from external customers and noeftuassets by geographic areas are as follows:

Sales revenues from external customers

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Japan ¥ 63,151 ¥ 59,059 $ 549,095
Germany 101,634 82,038 883,697
Americas 75,240 63,513 654,207
Europe other than
Germany 115,324 94,998 1,002,732
China and Asia 40,661 28,672 353,544
Total ¥ 396,011 ¥ 328,283 $ 3,443,278
(Note) Sales revenues by geographical areas aegarated by countries or regions based on the

geographical location of the respective salesiestit

Non-current assets

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Japan ¥ 97,210 ¥ 84,404 $ 845,239
Germany 107,879 99,238 937,999
Americas 9,260 8,978 80,515
Europe other than
Germany 92,542 100,644 804,648
China and Asia 11,403 8,157 99,148
Eliminations (12,770) (15,068) (111,039)
Total ¥ 305,525 ¥ 286,354 $ 2,656,510
(Note) Non-current assets by geographical areazlassified by countries or regions based on the

locations of the assets, and consist of propetgntpand equipment, goodwill and other

intangible assets.

Information on major customers
The proportion of revenue from any individual cusémsdid not exceed 10% of consolidated sales

revenues for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020.
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7. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents at 3érbleer 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Cash on hand and at banks
with maturities of three
months or less ¥ 47,298 ¥ 33,754 $ 411,258
Total ¥ 47,298 ¥ 33,754 $ 411,258

(Note) The balance of cash and cash equivalenteeinconsolidated statement of financial positior8ht
December 2021 and 2020 agreed with the respectilantes in the consolidated statement of cash

flows.

8. Trade and Other Receivables
The breakdown of trade and other receivables at&&kmber 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Notes and trade
receivables ¥ 54,744 ¥ 42,140 $ 475,999
Other 8,073 3,486 70,195
Allowance for doubtful
receivables (3,140) (3,063) (27,305)
Total ¥ 59,677 ¥ 42,563 $ 518,888
9. Inventories
The breakdown of inventories at 31 December 20212820 is as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Raw materials and supplies ¥ 62,159 ¥ 50,110 $ 540,469
Work in process 30,612 28,479 266,168
Merchandise and finished
goods 36,771 42,418 319,720
Total ¥ 129,542 ¥ 121,008 $ 1,126,358

(Note 1)  “Costs of raw materials and consumableghée consolidated statement of profit or lossudebk
the write-downs of inventories of ¥5,048 millior4@893 thousand) and ¥7,379 million for the
fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively.

(Note 2)  Cost of inventories recognized in profitlass for the fiscal years ended 31 December 20il
2020 amounted to ¥250,636 million ($2,179,260 thad} and ¥205,607 million, respectively,
including the above write-downs of inventories.

(Note 3)  There is no significant reversal of writachs for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020.
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment

(1) The movement in acquisition cost, accumulatguet@ation and impairment losses and carrying ammoun
for property, plant and equipmefatr the fiscal years 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Acquisition cost
Millions of yen

2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and Machinery and furniture and  Construction
structures vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balance ¥ 159,133 ¥ 38,480 ¥ 39,706 ¥ 5,242 ¥ 242,562
Acquisitions 1,749 1,307 2,575 11,457 17,089
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - - -
Disposals (2,298) (2,883) (2,714) (559) (8,455)
Reclassification from
construction in
progress 4,205 1,921 327 (6,454) -
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations 3,862 1,365 1,667 209 7,104
Ending balance ¥ 166,652 ¥ 40,190 ¥ 41,562 ¥ 9,894 ¥ 258,300
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and Machinery and furniture and  Construction
structures vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balance $ 1,383,651 $ 334,581 $ 345,240 $ 45,581 $ 2,109,054
Acquisitions 15,211 11,364 22,397 99,619 148,593
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - - -
Disposals (19,986) (25,068) (23,601) (4,865) (73,522)
Reclassification from
construction in
progress 36,568 16,706 2,848 (56,122) -
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations 33,580 11,872 14,496 1,821 61,771
Ending balance $ 1,449,024 $ 349,455 $ 361,380 $ 86,033 $ 2,245,895

33



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Millions of yen

2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and  Machinery furniture and  Construction
structures and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balance ¥ (65,216) ¥ (17,734) ¥ (28,801) ¥- ¥ (111,752)
Depreciation
(Note 1) (4,136) (3,468) (3,161) - (10,767)
Impairment losses
(Note 2) (138) (112) - - (250)
Disposals 1,283 2,060 2,143 - 5,486
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations (1,144) (674) (1,121) - (2,941)
Ending balance ¥ (69,353) ¥ (19,928) ¥ (30,941) ¥ - ¥ (120,223)
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and  Machinery furniture and  Construction
structures and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balance $ (567,049) $ (154,198) $ (250,427) $- $(971,675)
Depreciation
(Note 1) (35,968) (30,158) (27,490) - (93,617)
Impairment losses
(Note 2) (1,207) (967) - - (2,175)
Disposals 11,158 17,914 18,635 - 47,708
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations (9,954) (5,865) (9,753) - (25,572)
Ending balance $ (603,022) $ (173,275) $ (269,035) $- $(1,045,333)
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Carrying amount
Millions of yen

2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and  Machinery furniture and  Construction
structures and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balanc ¥ 93,917 ¥ 20,745 ¥ 10,904 ¥ 5,242 ¥ 130,809
Ending balanc ¥ 97,298 ¥ 20,262 ¥ 10,620 ¥ 9,894 ¥ 138,076

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Land, Tools,
buildings and ~ Machinery furniture and  Construction
structures and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
Beginning balanc $ 816,601 $ 180,382 $94,812 $ 45,581 $1,137,378
Ending balanc $ 846,002 $176,180 $ 92,345 $ 86,033 $ 1,200,562

(Note 1) Depreciation is included in “Depreciatiand amortization” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

(Note 2) Impairment losses are included in “Othperating costs” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

(Note 3) Amounts for property, plant and equipmamder construction are presented in “Construction
in progress.”
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Acquisition cost

Beginning balance
Acquisitions
Acquisitions through

business combinations

Disposals

Reclassification from
construction in
progress

Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations

Ending balance

Millions of yen

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Beginning balance

Depreciation
(Note 1)

Impairment losses

(Note 2)

Disposals

Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations

Ending balance

Carrying amount

Beginning balanc
Ending balanc

2020
Land, Tools,
buildings and Machinery and furniture and  Construction
structures vehicles fixtures in progress Total
¥ 154,677 ¥ 36,887 ¥ 42,167 ¥ 5,068 ¥ 238,801
2,009 2,601 1,919 6,298 12,828
1,017 354 17 0 1,390
(2,709) (2,460) (6,361) - (11,530)
4,289 1,198 565 (6,053) -
(151) (102) 1,398 (72) 1,072
¥ 159,133 ¥ 38,480 ¥ 39,706 ¥ 5,242 ¥ 242,562
Millions of yen
2020
Land, Tools,
buildings and Machinery furniture and  Construction
structures and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
¥(62,039) ¥ (15,326) ¥ (30,491) ¥- ¥ (107,857)
(4,062) (4,289) (3,877) - (12,229)
(45) (150) (301) - (496)
1,216 2,062 6,294 - 9,573
(286) (30) (426) - (742)
¥ (65,216) ¥ (17,734) ¥ (28,801) ¥ - ¥ (111,752)
Millions of yen
2020
Land, Tools,
buildings and Machinery  furniture and  Construction
structures  and vehicles fixtures in progress Total
¥92,63¢ ¥21,56( ¥11,67¢ ¥ 5,06¢ ¥130,94:
¥ 93,91 ¥ 20,74! ¥ 10,90« ¥ 5,24; ¥ 130,80
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(Note 1) Depreciation is included in “Depreciatiand amortization” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

(Note 2) Impairment losses are included in “Othperating costs” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

(Note 3) Amounts for property, plant and equipmamder construction are presented in “Construction
in progress.”

Impairment losses

The carrying amount of certain assets, includinddings, were written down to their recoverable amou
during the fiscal year 2021 as their profitabilitgclined. ¥250 million ($2,175 thousand) of impamn
loss was allocated to the Machine Tools segment.

The carrying amount of certain assets, includindstdarniture and fixtures, were written down t@ith
recoverable amount during the fiscal year 202®eis profitability declined. ¥199 million of impairent
loss was allocated to the Machine Tools segmemty¥llion to the Industrial Services segment aniig¢2
million to the Corporate Services segment.
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11. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

(1) The movement in acquisition cost, accumulateggkinment losses and carrying amount for goodwill fo

the fiscal years 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Beginning balance

Acquisitions

Acquisitions through business
combinations

Disposals

Impairment losses

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Ending balance

Beginning balance

Acquisitions

Acquisitions through business
combinations

Disposals

Impairment losses

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Ending balance

Millions of yen

2021

Beginning balance

Acquisitions

Acquisitions through business
combinations

Disposals

Impairment losses

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Ending balance

Acquisition Accumulated
cost impairment losses Carrying amount
¥ 69,142 ¥ (334) ¥ 68,807
- 9) 9)
2,085 (48) 2,036
¥ 71,227 ¥ (392) ¥ 70,834
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Acquisition Accumulated
cost impairment losses Carrying amount
$601,183 $ (2,910) $ 598,273
- (81) (81)
18,134 (423) 17,710
$ 619,317 $ (3,415) $ 615,902
Millions of yen
2020
Acquisition Accumulated
cost impairment losses Carrying amount
¥ 66,846 ¥ (329) ¥ 66,516
84 - 84
2,211 (5) 2,206
¥ 69,142 ¥ (334) ¥ 68,807
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(2) The movement in acquisition cost, accumulatedrtimation and impairment losses and carrying arhoun

for other intangible assets for the fiscal yeargd12@nd 2020 is as follows:

Acquisition cost

Millions of yen
2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balance ¥ 42,758 ¥ 7,908 ¥ 6,016 ¥1,678 ¥ 11,834 ¥47,603 ¥ 117,801
Acquisitions 4 - - 61 - 8,410 8,475
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - - - - -
Additions due to
internal development - - - - 4,139 - 4,139
Disposals - - - - (2,449) (1,623) (4,072)
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations 1,219 327 167 - 545 360 2,620
Ending balance ¥ 43,981 ¥ 8,236 ¥ 6,184 ¥ 1,739 ¥ 14,069 ¥54,751 ¥ 128,963
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks  assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balance $371,778 $68,767 $52,314 $14,594 $102,902 $413,910 $ 1,024,268
Acquisitions 37 - - 530 - 73,124 73,692
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - - - - -
Additions due to
internal development - - - - 35,988 - 35,988
Disposals - - - - (21,295) (14,112) (35,408)
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations 10,603 2,845 1,458 - 4,741 3,136 22,784
Ending balance $382,418 $71,612 $53,773 $15,125 $122,337 $476,058 $1,121,326
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

Millions of yen
2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total

Beginning balanc ¥ (2,097) ¥ (4,068) ¥ (6,016) ¥ (1,678) ¥ (6,876) ¥ (30,119) ¥ (50,856)
Amortizatior (622) (550) - (13) (1,430) (3,103) (5,720)
Impairmentlosse - - - - (20) (227) (138)
Disposal - - - - 2,449 778 3,227
Exchange differences

on translation of

foreign operatior (83) (195) (167) - (448) (66) (961)
Ending balance ¥ (2,802) ¥ (4,814) ¥ (6,184) ¥ (1,691) ¥ (6,317) ¥(32,637) ¥ (54,448)

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balanc $(18,236) $(35,372) $(52,314) $(14,594) $(59,789) $(261,884) $(442,192)
Amortizatior (5,411) (4,789) - (115) (12,441) (26,980) (49,739)
Impairment losse - - - - (91) (1,109) (1,200)
Disposal - - - - 21,295 6,768 28,064
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operatior (722) (1,700) (1,458) - (3,901) (578) (8,360)
Ending balance $(24,370) $(41,862) $(53,773) $(14,709) $(54,929) $(283,783) $(473,428)
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Carrying amount

Millions of yen
2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balanc ¥ 40,660 ¥ 3,840 ¥ - ¥- ¥ 4,958 ¥ 17,484 ¥ 66,944
Ending balanc ¥ 41,179 ¥ 3,421 ¥ - ¥ 47 ¥ 7,752 ¥ 22,113 ¥ 74,514

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balanc $ 353,541 $ 33,395 $- $- $43,112 $152,025 $582,076
Ending balanc $ 358,048 $ 29,750 $- $415 $67,407 $192275 $647,897

Intangible assets in the above table with finitefuklives are amortized over their useful econolinies.
Amortization of intangible assets is included inefeciation and amortization” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Impairment losses are included in “Other operatiogts” in the consolidated statement of profitomsl

The amount of intangible assets in the above talifle iwdefinite useful lives was ¥33,847 million
($294,303 thousand) as of 31 December 2021. Inténgssets with indefinite useful lives were mainly
trademarks, which were recognized as a resulteobtisiness combination between DMG MORI AG and
the Company during the fiscal year 2015. Trademarksclassified as intangible assets with indefinit
useful lives since there is no foreseeable limithi periodover which the asset is expected to generate
net cash flows for the Group to the extent thair tlespective operations continue.

Internally generated intangible assets (after dinly@ccumulated amortization and impairment losses
as of 31 December 2021 were ¥7,752 million ($67#0dsand) and included in capitalized development
costs in the above table.
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Acquisition cost

Millions of yen

2020
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balance ¥ 41,289 ¥7,734 ¥ 5,806 ¥ 1,669 ¥9210 ¥41,654 ¥107,364
Acquisitions 0 - - 8 - 6,919 6,929
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - - - 36 36
Additions due to
internal development - - - - 2,122 - 2,122
Disposals - - - - (126) (1,518) (1,644)
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations 1,468 174 210 - 628 511 2,992
Ending balance ¥ 42,758 ¥ 7,908 ¥ 6,016 ¥1,678 ¥11,834 ¥47,603 ¥117,801
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Millions of yen
2020
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related development
Trademarks assets assets Patents costs Others Total
Beginning balanc ¥ (1,725 ¥ (3,472 ¥ (4,796  ¥(1,667 ¥ (5,001  ¥(27,928 ¥ (44,591
Amortizatior (321 (515 (1,003 (11) (1,425 (3,184 (6,461
Impairment losse - - - - - - -
Disposal - - - - 12¢ 1,44: 1,56¢
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operatior (50) (79) (216) - (576) (449) (1,372)
Ending balance ¥ (2,097) ¥ (4,068) ¥ (6,016) ¥(1,678) ¥ (6,876) ¥ (30,119) ¥ (50,856)
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Carrying amount
Millions of yen

2020
Customer Technology Capitalized
-related -related developmen
Trademarks assets assets Patents t costs Others Total
Beginning balance ¥ 39,564 ¥ 4,261 ¥ 1,009 ¥2 ¥ 4208 ¥13,726 ¥62,773
Ending balance ¥ 40,660 ¥ 3,840 ¥- ¥ - ¥4958 ¥17,484 ¥66,944

3)

(4)

Intangible assets in the above table with finitefuklives are amortized over their useful econolinies.
Amortization of intangible assets is included inefeciation and amortization” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Impairment losses are included in “Other operatiogts” in the consolidated statement of profitomsl
The amount of intangible assets in the above taliteindefinite useful lives was ¥32,929 million el
31 December 2020. Intangible assets with indefingeful lives were mainly trademarks, which were
recognized as a result of the business combinhgtmeen DMG MORI AG and the Company during the
fiscal year 2015. Trademarks are classified angitde assets with indefinite useful lives sincerthis

no foreseeable limit to the period over which theed is expected to generate net cash flows fagthap

to the extent that their respective operationsinaat

Internally generated intangible assets (after dinly@ccumulated amortization and impairment losses
as of 31 December 2020 were ¥4,958 million andithet] in “capitalized development costs” in the abov
table.

Impairment losses

The carrying amount of certain software and deveknassets were written down to their recoverable
amount during the fiscal year 2021 as their prbfity declined. They were allocated to the Machine
Tools segment; the amount was ¥138 million ($1,200 thousand).

The Group did not record any impairment loss forfibeal year ended 31 December 2020.

Significant goodwill and other intangible asset

Significant goodwill and other intangible assets;luding assets with indefinite useful lives, ireth
consolidated statement of financial position we®ognized as a result of the business combinatittm w
DMG MORI AG and the Company during the fiscal y2at5 as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
cGu 2021 2020 2021

Goodwill Machine Tools ¥ 31,768 ¥ 30,906 $ 276,222
Industrial Services 36,104 35,125 313,927
Total ¥ 67,873 ¥ 66,032 $ 590,150
Intangible assets with  Machine Tools ¥ 15,252 ¥ 14,838 $ 132,617
indefinite useful lives  Industrial Services 18,595 18,091 161,686
Total ¥ 33,847 ¥ 32,929 $ 294,303

In addition to the above, other intangible assatkides trademark rights (¥7,738 million in thevioas
fiscal year, and ¥7,625 million ($66,306 thousandpe fiscal year 2021), and customer-relatedtasse
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(¥3,466 million in the previous fiscal year, and®& million ($27,538 thousand) in the fiscal year
2021), with remaining amortization periods of 22iggeand approximately eight years, respectively.

(5) Impairment test of goodwill and other intangillssets
Carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangibssets with indefinite useful lives allocated toteac
CGU or group of CGUs are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
CGU 2021 2020 2021

Goodwill Machine Tools ¥ 31,768 ¥ 30,906 $ 276,222
Industrial Services 39,066 37,900 339,679
Total ¥ 70,834 ¥ 68,807 $ 615,902
Intangible assets with  Machine Tools ¥ 15,252 ¥ 14,838 $ 132,617
indefinite useful lives  Industrial Services 18,595 18,091 161,686
Total ¥ 33,847 ¥ 32,929 $ 294,303

The recoverable amount of goodwill and other intalegassets (allocated to each CGU or group of
CGUs) with indefinite useful lives related to DMGNRI AG is measured at value in use of CGU or
group of CGUs to which they are allocated. The lesueptions used to calculate such value in use are
as follows:

Estimated future cash flow: The Group draws on pagerience and external sources of
information to estimate future cash flow based dnexyear business plan approved by
management. The business plan is based on the g@ypsons of growth rate of sales revenues
and ratio of operating costs to sales revenuesgideth rate of sales revenues tends to be
significantly affected by any increase or decréasmpital expenditure demand in the machine tool
market due to economic fluctuations, and the mattioperating costs to sales revenues is affected
by the aforementioned fluctuations in economic dimaks as well as the risk of rising raw material
costs. Therefore, estimates are highly uncertaimaaybe affected by the subjective judgment of
management. For the period subsequent to the pevigeted by the business plan, the Group
calculates the terminal value by discounting edithduture cash flows to their present value using
a growth rate determined in consideration of thed@@mns of the country and industry to which the
CGU or group of CGUs belongs based on the foredastseh flows for the final year of the
business plan. The relevant growth rates are asstoni®xi2.0% and 2.0% at 31 December 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Discount rate: The Group used discount rates of aB#611.6% at 31 December 2021 and 2020,
respectively, considering the corresponding préA&CC for similar industries and reflecting
current market assessments of the time value oegnand specific risks.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangiiésets with indefinite useful lives related to
DMG MORI AG at the end of the fiscal year 2021 [B&cember 2021) were ¥47,020 million
($408,839 thousand) in the Machine Tools segmem#ad,700 million ($475,614 thousand) in the
Industrial Services segment, and the recoverabtriatrof goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives at the end of the fiscaay@021 (31 December 2021) and the fiscal year 2020
(31 December 2020) exceeded the correspondingimgraynounts by ¥54,970 million ($477,964
thousand) and ¥12,410 million in the Machine Ta@gment and ¥140,259 million ($1,219,541
thousand) and ¥25,376 million in the Industriahs®s segment, respectively.
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However, key assumptions used to calculate valusénmay change within reasonable range in the
future, and, as a result, the recognition of impaint loss may be required in some cases. If we
assume that the discount rate and perpetual gnagtor the Machine Tools segment had changed
by 2.6% and (4.0)% respectively at the end of ibeaf year 2021, it is possible that the recoverabl
amount would have fallen under the carrying amaumraddition, if we assume that the discount rate
and perpetual growth rate for the Industrial Sesisegment had changed by 11.7% and (39.4)%
respectively at the end of the fiscal year 2025 jtossible that the recoverable amount would have
fallen under the carrying amount.

The recoverable amount of goodwill allocated todtieer groups of CGUs is measured by the value
in use. The value in use is calculated as the ptesdue of the estimated future cash flows of each
group of CGUs discounted at a discount rate. Thevim use forgoodwill allocated to the other
groups of CGUs currently exceeds the carrying artsoand the Group believes any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on whichett@verable amount is based would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregeoverable amount of the groups of CGUs.
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12. Other Financial Assets

The breakdown of other financial assets as of 3leBer 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Financial assets measured at
amortized cos
Other financial assets including
loans ¥ 8,382 ¥ 8,24¢ $ 72,887
Financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive
income
Other financial assets (Equitir 18,256 12,41: 158,734
Financial assets measured at fair
value through profi
Derivative assets 907 227 7,893
Total 27,546 20,890 239,515
Current assets ¥ 5,557 ¥ 4,254 $ 48,319
Nonr-current asse 21,989 16,63¢ 191,195
Total ¥ 27,546 ¥ 20,890 $ 239,515

13. Investments in Associates

The carrying amount of the Group’s investments goaites as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is asvill

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Carrying amount of investments in
associates ¥ 5704 ¥ 5,222 $ 49,603
Profit and other comprehensive income attributéblne Group are as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Profit attributable to the Group ¥ 30 ¥ (526) $ 269
Other comprehensive income
attributable to the Group 6 13 57
Total ¥ 37 ¥ (512) $ 326
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14. Trade and Other Payables
The breakdown of trade and other payables as ofe@kember 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Trade payables ¥ 27,100 ¥ 28,373 $ 235,638
Other payables 12,235 11,159 106,382
Others 14,833 8,375 128,978
Total ¥ 54,169 ¥ 47,908 $ 470,999

15. Interest-bearing Bonds and Borrowings
(1) The breakdown of interest-bearing bonds andomings as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as fellow

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
Average interest
rate
(%) Maturity
2021 2020 (Note) (Note) 2021
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost:
Short-term borrowings ¥ 270 ¥ 22,000 0.625 - $2,351
Long-term borrowings due
within one year - 5,000 - - -
Long-term borrowings
(excluding those due within
one year) 45,442 55,438 0.196 2023-2025 395,120
Interest-bearing bonds due
within one year 9,989 9,992 0.120 - 86,857
Interest-bearing bonds
(excluding those due within
one year) 39,690 9,974 - 2022-2024 345,104
Total ¥ 95393 ¥ 102,406 $ 829,433
Current liabilities ¥ 10,259 ¥ 36,993 $ 89,209
Non-current liabilities 85,133 65,413 740,224
Total ¥ 095393 ¥ 102,406 $ 829,433
(Note) Average interest rate and maturity are basetthe respective information at the end of figesr

2021.

(2) Euro-yen denominated convertible bonds
In July 2021, the Company raised funds of ¥40 dll($347 million) in total through the euro-yen
denominated convertible bonds due 2024 (the “Bonds”
On the consolidated statement of financial positisrof the payment date, the fair value of theilitgb
portion of the Bonds was recorded in “Interest-bpbonds and borrowings (non-current)” and the
remaining amount after deducting the fair valuetdf liability portion from the paid-in amount was
recorded in “Other components of equity.”
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Overview of the Bonds

1) Name Euro-yen denominated convertible bonds due 2024

2) Total amount of the Bonds ¥40 billion ($347 milljon

3) Issue price/redemption price 100% / 100%

4) Offer price 102.50%

5) Interest rate 0.00%

6) Payment date 16 July 2021

7) Redemption date 16 July 2024

8) Exceeding rate/conversion price
30.04% / ¥2,593

9) Early redemption conditions Early redemption may bmitted if the sum of the par value of the
remaining bonds falls below 10% of the total pdugaof the bonds at
the time of issuance, or in the event of a chandaxation. In addition,
in case of special events such as reorganizataistidg, etc., the early
redemption obligation arises.

10) Call option clause On or after 16 January 2024hdf closing price of the Company’'s

common stock is 130% or more of the conversionepitc a period of
at least 20 consecutive trading days, the Compaay, mmpon prior
notice, exercise an early redemption of all (butpert) the remaining
Bonds at a price equal to 100% of their par value.

11) Conversion price adjustment clause

After the issuance of the Bonds, the conversiocepwill be adjusted
in the event of a below-market issuance of the Gomis shares, a
share split or consolidation of shares, or a speoraend.

12) Cross default clause There is a clause that stadéshie Bonds will lose the benefit of time

in the event of default on obligations over ¥0.Bidn owed by the
Company or its major subsidiaries.

13) Security setting restriction clause

There is a clause that states that the Companyatipledge the assets
of the Company or its major subsidiaries to makgygnts on foreign
bonds as long as the Bonds remain outstanding fekxteases where
the same security is pledged to the Bonds in advanat the same
time).
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16. Other Financial Liabilities
The breakdown of other financial liabilities as dfBecember 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Financial liabilities measured
at amortized cost:
Payment obligation for
external shareholders
(Note 1) ¥ 53,876 ¥ 51,976 $ 468,447

Preferred shargiote 2) 14,957 14,915 130,056

Other financial liabilities

(Lease liabilities, etc.) 26,893 25,941 233,834
Financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss:

Derivative liabilities 1,356 394 11,798
Total ¥ 97,084 ¥ 93,227 $ 844,137
Current liabilities ¥ 74,677 ¥ 58,085 $ 649,316
Non-current liabilities 22,406 35,142 194,820
Total ¥ 97,084 ¥ 93,227 $ 844,137

(Note 1) The payment obligation for external shaldéurs arose from the DPLTA. For details, pleaserref
Note 34 “Domination and Profit and Loss Transfer Agreenient

(Note 2) One consolidated subsidiary of the Gragued preferred shares. The preferred shares chanot
converted to corporate bonds and instead, the diabgishall redeem the shares by the end of
December 2022. Considering the contractual conwditithe consolidated subsidiary classifies these
shares as financial liabilities. The shares are ¢atine preferred shares and the annual dividerad rat
is based on the Japanese-yen TIBOR (6 months).slihsidiary shall be liable for any unpaid
dividends with the amount carried forward to thatrfescal year in the event that the consolidated
subsidiary does not fully pay the dividend basedhenannual rate.
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17. Leases
(1) Income and expenses from lease transactions
The table below showiscome and expenses from lease transactions.

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets
Land, buildings, and structures ¥ 2,006 ¥ 1,902 $ 17,445
Machinery and vehicles 1,892 2,045 16,457
Tools, furniture, and fixtures 1,507 1,479 13,106
Total 5,406 5,427 47,009
Lease expense from exemption

of short-term leases 1,338 1,287 11,641
Lease expense from exemption

of low-value assets 251 255 2,190
Interest expense for lease

liabilities ¥ 425 ¥ 440 $3,704

The table below shows the total cash outflow froaséetransactions.
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021

Total cash outflow from lease

transactions ¥ 6,035 ¥ 5,780 $ 52,479

(2) Variable lease payments (lessee)
No variable lease payment is planned at the emigedfiscal year 2021.

(3) Options to extend or terminate (lessee)
Each group company is responsible for the operatid@ases. Therefore, lease conditions are negdtiat

individually, and the contractual terms and cowdisi vary widely.
Options to extend are mainly related to leasebdiddings, and structures, and exercised by a lease

contractor if necessary.
No payment associated with options to cancel isrd at the end of the fiscal year 2021.

(4) Residual value guarantees (lessee)
No payment associated with residual value guaransgglanned at the end of the fiscal year 2021.
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(5) Sale and leaseback transactions (lessee)
For effective use of owned assets, the Group saldh@onetized a part of buildings and structuresndur

the fiscal year 2021. The table below shows prafibss from sale and leaseback transactions.

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021
Gain or loss from sale and
leaseback transactions ¥ 32 ¥ (177) $ 280
(6) Increase in right-of-use assets
The table below shows an increase in right-of-usetas
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S doallars
2021 2020 2021
Increase in right-of-use assets ¥ 8,115 ¥ 7,501 $ 70,562
(7) Carrying amount of right-of-use assets
The table below shows the carrying amount of rightse assets.
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Land, buildings, and structures ¥ 17,077 ¥ 13,430 $ 148,489
Machinery and vehicles 3,011 4,030 26,182
Tools, furniture, and fixtures 2,010 2,332 17,476
Total ¥ 22,099 ¥ 19,792 $ 192,148
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18. Retirement Benefits
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries hstablkshed funded and unfunded defined benefitipens

plans and defined contribution pension plans. Iditaxh to the above, certain consolidated subsiekar
participate in a small- and medium-sized enterprisiéual aid plan.

(1) Defined benefit plans

1.

Defined contribution plans adopted in Japanass-pmployment benefits

The Company and almost all of its consolidated slidases in Japan have established defined
contribution pension plans. Some of the consolalatésidiaries in Japan have established defined
benefit pension plans.

Defined benefit plans of overseas subsidiasgsost-employment benefits

Overseas consolidated subsidiaries, mainly in Geynaad Switzerland, have primarily established
defined benefit plans for post-employment benefite contributions to these plans are determined
based on the employee’s length of service, sateu®i land other factors depending on general laws,
economic conditions and taxation regulations of régpective countries. These plans expose the
Group to the risks arising from fluctuations inerést rates, market and foreign exchanges rates, as
well as actuarial differences due to changes imesibns, such as average life expectancy.

Assets and liabilities of defined benefit plansogatized in the consolidated statement of finanmiaition
as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Present value of defined benefit
obligations ¥ 9,086 ¥ 9,281 $ 79,005
Fair value of plan assets (3,905) (3,463) (33,961)
Funded status 5,180 5,817 45,043
Net defined benefit liabilities >,180 5,817 45,043
Amounts in consolidated statement of
financial position:
Net employee defined benefit
liabilities ¥ 5,180 ¥ 5817 $ 45,043

Costs of defined benefit plans recognized in thesotidated statements of profit or loss for thedls

years 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021

Current service cost ¥ 101 ¥ 151 $ 880
Past service cost 35 63 306
Subtotal of operating costs 136 214 1,186
Net interest cost 38 34 333
Subtotal of financial costs 38 34 333
Total ¥ 174 ¥ 249 $ 1,520
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The movement in the present value of defined beabfigations for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020aare
follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Beginning balance ¥ 9,281 ¥ 8,905 $ 80,698
Pension cost charged to profit or loss:

Current service cost 101 151 880
Past service cost 35 63 306
Interest cost 43 51 381
Subtotal 180 266 1,568

Remeasurement (gains) losses in other
comprehensive income:
Actuarial gains and losses arising
from changes in demographic
assumptions (105) - (916)
Actuarial gains and losses arising
from changes in financial

assumptions (329) (126) (2,864)
Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments (8) 20 (70)
Subtotal (443) (106) (3,851)
Other:
Benefits paid (457) (713) (3,980)
Contributions to the plan by
participants 38 40 337
Increase due to acquisition of
consolidated subsidiaries - 636 -
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations 313 251 2,727
Other 173 - 1,505
Subtotal 67 214 590
Ending balance ¥ 9,086 ¥ 9,281 $ 79,005
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The movement in the fair value in the plan assetthiofiscal years 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Beginning balance ¥ 3,463 ¥ 3,310 $ 30,114
Amount recognized in profit
or loss:

Interest income 5 17 47
Subtotal 5 17 47

Amount recognized in other
comprehensive income:
Remeasurements of fair
value of plan assets
Return on plan assets 100 a7 875
Actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience

adjustments . . .
Subtotal 100 a7 875
Other:

Contributions to the plan by

the employer 430 420 3,740
Benefits paid (437) (664) (3,808)
Contributions to the plan by

participants 25 22 220

Increase due to acquisition

of consolidated

subsidiaries - 191 -
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations 147 118 1,285
Other 170 - 1,486
Subtotal 336 88 2,923

Ending balance ¥ 3,905 ¥ 3,463 $ 33,961

(Note)  The Group expects to contribute ¥453 mil({$8,938 thousand) to its defined benefit pension
plans for the year ending 31 December 2022.

Significant actuarial assumptions used for theudaton of the present value of defined benefit
obligations are as follows:

2021 2020
Discount rates (% 0.292.93 0.25-2.4¢
Rate of increase in
benefits paid (¥ 1.41:1.70 0.0¢-1.7¢

(Note)  The weighted average durations of the defivetefit obligation as of 31 December 2021 and
2020 were 13.8 years and 14.3 years, respectively.
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The sensitivity analysis does not consider cormatibetween assumptions, assuming that all other
assumptions are held constant. In practice, chaingasme of the assumptions may occur in a cogeélat
manner. When calculating the sensitivity of theirtedt benefit obligations, the same method has been
applied as when calculating the defined benefitgalibns in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Discount rate
0.25% increas
0.25% decrea:

Changes in rate of increase in

benefits paic
0.25% increas
0.25% decrea:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
¥ (231) ¥ (254 $ (2,011)
250 26¢€ 2,175
159 18¢ 1,390
¥ (149) ¥ 179 $ (1,301)

The breakdown of the fair value of plan assets &l ddecember 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Equities

Bonds

Real estate

Insurance

Other

Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Equities

Bonds

Real estate

Insurance

Other

Total

Millions of yen

2021

Quoted prices in

Quoted prices in
active market

active market unavailable Total

¥ 27 ¥ - ¥ 27

533 - 533

623 - 623

324 - 324

- 2,315 2,315

- 81 81

¥ 1,509 ¥ 2,396 ¥ 3,905

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Quoted prices in
Quoted prices in active market
active market unavailable Total

$ 237 $ - $ 237
4,641 - 4,641
5,424 - 5,424
2,821 - 2,821
- 20,129 20,129
- 707 707
$13,124 $ 20,836 $ 33,961
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Millions of yen

2020
Quoted prices in
Quoted prices in active market
active market unavailable Total
Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 23 ¥ - ¥ 23
Equities 374 - 374
Bonds 654 - 654
Real estate 284 - 284
Insurance - 2,048 2,048
Other - 78 78
Total ¥1,336 ¥ 2,126 ¥ 3,463

The investment strategy of the global pension agsé¢ii® Group is based on the goal of assuringipens
payments over the long term. In Germany, plan assainly comprise insurance contracts and are held
by a legally separate and independent entity whokepurpose is to hedge and finance employee ibenef
liabilities. In Switzerland, external plan assets mvested in a traditional pension fund. Plaretsm
Switzerland are subject to customary minimum fugdiguirements.

(2) Defined contribution plans
The expenses related to the defined contributionsptdnarged to profit or loss for the fiscal yesd2P
and 2020 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021
Expenses for defined
contribution plans ¥ 2,555 ¥ 2,814 $ 22,222
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19. Provisions

The movement in provisions for the fiscal years 288d 2020 is as follows:
Millions of yen

2021
Provision for  Provision for  Provision for
product sales personnel Other
warranties commissions costs provisions Total

Beginning balance ¥ 8,099 ¥ 7,041 ¥ 13,939 ¥ 9,521 ¥ 38,601
Increase 9,504 5,505 11,425 3,119 29,554
Decrease due to intended use (7,742) (1,337) (7,824) (1,215) (18,120)
Reversal (882) (780) (1,825) (920) (4,408)
Increase due to passage of

time - - (1) 5 4
Increase due to business

combinations - - - - -
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations 252 375 351 (196) 783

¥ 9,231 ¥10,804 ¥ 16,064 ¥ 10,314 ¥ 46,415

Ending balance

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Provision for  Provision for  Provision for
product sales personnel Other
warranties commissions costs provisions Total

Beginning balance $ 70,424 $61,226 $121,199 $ 82,786 $ 335,637
Increase 82,641 47,868 99,346 27,119 256,976
Decrease due to intended use  (67,323) (11,632) (68,035) (10,564) (157,556)
Reversal (7,673) (6,788) (15,871) (7,999) (38,332)
Increase due to passage of

time - - (12) 51 39
Increase due to business

combinations - - - - -
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations 2,194 3,267 3,054 (1,705) 6,810
Ending balance $ 80,262 $ 93,941 $ 139,681 $ 89,687 $ 403,574
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Millions of yen

2020
Provision for  Provision for  Provision for
product sales personnel Other
warranties  commissions costs provisions Total

Beginning balance ¥ 7,556 ¥ 6,832 ¥ 16,225 ¥ 9,344 ¥ 39,958
Increase 7,901 2,592 9,680 3,623 23,797
Decrease due to intended use (7,078) (1,670) (10,414) (2,187) (21,350)
Reversal (422) (730) (1,885) (1,411) (4,449)
Increase due to passage of

time - - () 36 34
Increase due to business

combinations - - 208 - 208
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations 143 17 127 115 403

¥ 8,099 ¥ 7,041 ¥ 13,939 ¥ 9,521 ¥ 38,601

Ending balance

The breakdown of provisions as of 31 December 202112820 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Current liabilities:
Provision for product
warranties ¥ 9,231 ¥ 8,099 $ 80,262
Provision for sales
commissions 10,449 6,843 90,857
Provision for personnel
costs 11,855 10,259 103,086
Other provisions 9,006 8,391 78,313
Subtotal 40,543 33,593 352,520
Non-current liabilities:
Provision for sales
commissions 354 198 3,084
Provision for personnel
costs 4,208 3,679 36,595
Other provisions 1,308 1,129 11,374
Subtotal 5,871 5,007 51,053
Total ¥ 46,415 ¥ 38,601 $ 403,574

Provision for product warranties

Provision for product warranties is calculated base the actual historical ratio of repair costagm®rtion of
the corresponding product sales revenues to prdoidieiture repairs during free-of-charge produetrsanty

periods.
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Provision for sales commissions
Provision for sales commissions is calculated baseithe estimated commissions to be paid to s@akers.

Provision for personnel costs
Provision for personnel costs mainly consists pfavision for annual paid leaves and bonuses.

The outflows of economic benefits related to prarisiincluded in current liabilities and non-currksibilities

are expected within one year from the end of thenting period and after one year from the endiefreporting
period, respectively.
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20. Income Taxes
(1) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The breakdown and movement of deferred tax assdt$iadlities by major causes of their occurrence

for fiscal years 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
Millions of yen

2021
Recognized in
Recognized in other
Beginning profit or loss comprehensive Ending
balance (Note 1) income Other balance
Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets ¥ 1,862 ¥ (451) ¥ - ¥ - ¥1,411
Property, plant and
equipment 1,292 (60) - - 1,231
Inventories 3,613 103 - - 3,716
Trade and other
receivables 373 34 - - 407
Unused tax losses
(Note 2) 730 737 - - 1,467
Provisions 3,105 401 - - 3,507
Other 5,183 280 - - 5,463
Total 16,160 1,045 - - 17,206
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (11,303) (118) - - (11,422)
Property, plant and
equipment (1,200) 256 - - (944)
Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income (1,494) 1,318 (428) - (604)
Inventories (114) 29 - - (84)
Other (4,358) 41 (130) - (4,447)
Total (18,471) 1,526 (558) - (17,503)
Net amount ¥ (2,310) ¥ 2572 ¥ (558) ¥ - ¥ (297)

(Note 1) Exchange differences arising on transladioforeign operations are included.

(Note 2) The cause of deferred tax assets assogidtednused tax losses as of 31 December 202dnis n
recurring in nature, and the management assesatthéhtax benefit will be realizable based on
the forecast of future taxable income in the bussnaan approved by the Board of Directors of

the Company.
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Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and

equipment
Inventories
Trade and other
receivables
Unused tax losses
(Note 2)
Provisions
Other
Total

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and

equipment
Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income
Inventories
Other
Total

Net amount

(Note 1)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021

Recognized in

Recognized in other

Beginning profit or loss comprehensive Ending

balance (Note 1) income Other balance
$ 16,195 $(3,924) $- $- $12,271
11,234 (524) - - 10,710
31,419 897 - - 32,316
3,246 300 - - 3,547
6,348 6,412 - - 12,761
27,005 3,488 - - 30,494
45,066 2,438 - - 47,504
140,516 9,089 - - 149,605
(98,286) (1,032) - - (99,318)
(10,441) 2,231 - - (8,210)
(12,992) 11,460 (3,724) - (5,256)
(994) 257 - - (737)
(37,893) 357 (1,132) - (38,668)
(160,607) 13,274 (4,857) - (152,190)
$ (20,091) $ 22,363 $ (4,857) $- $ (2,584)

Exchange differences arising on transladioioreign operations are included.

(Note 2) The cause of deferred tax assets assogidtednused tax losses as of 31 December 202dnis n
recurring in nature, and the management assesatthéhtax benefit will be realizable based on
the forecast of future taxable income in the bussnaan approved by the Board of Directors of

the Company.
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Millions of yen

2020
Recognized in
Recognized in other
Beginning profit or loss  comprehensive
balance (Note 1) income Other Ending balance
Deferred tax assets:
Intangible assets ¥ 1,876 ¥ (13) ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 1,862
Property, plant and
equipment 1,328 (36) - - 1,292
Inventories 3,686 (72) - - 3,613
Trade and other
receivables 2,126 (287) - (1,465) 373
Unused tax losses
(Note 2) 732 (2 - - 730
Provisions 2,147 958 - - 3,105
Other 4,008 (145) - 1,319 5,183
Total 15,906 400 - (146) 16,160
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (11,172) (131) - - (11,303)
Property, plant and
equipment (1,443) 242 - - (1,200)
Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income (1,052) 22 (322) (141) (1,494)
Inventories (201) 87 - - (114)
Other (4,164) (267) (72) 146 (4,358)
Total (18,035) (45) (394) 4 (18,471)
Net amount ¥ (2,129) ¥ 354 ¥ (394) ¥ (141) ¥ (2,310)

(Note 1) Exchange differences arising on transladioforeign operations are included.

(Note 2) The cause of deferred tax assets assogidtednused tax losses as of 31 December 202@nis n
recurring in nature, and the management assesatthéhtax benefit will be realizable based on
the forecast of future taxable income in the bussnaan approved by the Board of Directors of

the Company.
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(2) Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deductible temporary differences, unused tax lgszed unused tax credits for which no deferred tax

asset is recognized are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Deductible temporary

differences ¥ 8,235 ¥ 8,523 $ 71,607
Unused tax losses 13,028 13,637 113,279
Unused tax credits 63 26 552
Total ¥ 21,327 ¥ 22,188 $ 185,440

Unused tax losses and unused tax credits for winicdeferred tax asset is recognized will expire as

follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Unused tax losses
Year 1 ¥ 620 ¥ 479 $5,398
Year 2 1,451 740 12,617
Year 3 2,195 2,581 19,086
Year 4 4,189 2,068 36,423
Year 5 or later 4,572 7,767 39,753
Total ¥ 13,028 ¥ 13,637 $ 113,279
Unused tax credits
Year 1 ¥12 ¥ 14 $111
Year 2 17 12 150
Year 3 33 - 291
Year 4 - - -
Year 5 or later - - -
Total ¥ 63 ¥ 26 $ 552
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(3) Income tax expense

The breakdown of income tax expense recognizechéfiscal years 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Current income tax expense ¥ 6,971 ¥ 4,585 $ 60,612
Deferred income tax expense:
Temporary differences
originated and reversed (844) (1,078) (7,343)
Changes in tax rate or
imposition of new taxation 10 11 86
Change in unused tax losses or
temporary differences not
recognized in prior years 241 (108) 2,099
Total (593) (1,176) (5,157)
Total income taxes ¥ 6,377 ¥ 3,409 $ 55,455

(4) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The Company is mainly subject to corporate tax, liitaat tax and enterprise tax. The effective stajut
tax rate calculated based on these taxes was 30fd6%he fiscal years 2021 and 2020. Foreign
subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in tlesipective jurisdictions.
The reconciliation of the effective statutory taterand the average actual tax rates for the figeais
2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020

Effective statutory tax ra 30.46% 30.46¥%
Non-deductible expenses, such as entertainment

expense 6.40 29.8¢
Tax credit (1.40) (20.80
Non-taxable income, such as dividend inci (0.03) (0.58
Temporary differences arising from investments in

associate 0.66 3.84
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax a (2.24) 31.2i
Effect of change in applicable tax re 0.05 0.2z
Revision of tax amount due to tax system revi - (7.03
Net gain/loss on step acquisitit - (0.42
Effect of elimination of gain on sales of subsidiati

stock on consolidatic (0.05) 0.7t
Effective tax rate difference in overseas consadidat

subsidiarie (5.27) (11.26
Transfer pricing taxatic 2.67 3.0¢
Other 1.28 (2.61)
Actual tax rates 32.53% 66.77%
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Equity and Other Equity Items

(1) Number of authorized shares and issued shares

()

The number of authorized shares and issued shaasdaiows:

Shares
2021 2020
Number of authorized sha 300,000,000 300,000,00
Number of issued shar
At the beginning of threporting perio 125,953,683 125,953,68
Increase/(decreas - -
At the end othe reporting peric 125,953,683 125,953,68

(Note)  The shares issued by the Company are ordaheangs with no par value. Issued shares are fully
paid-in.

Treasury shares
The movement in treasury shares is as follows:

Shares
2021 2020
At the beginning of the reporting period 1,943,804 3,295,62
IncreasgNotes 1 and 2) 425 71,40:
Decreasé€Notes 1 and 2) 960,025 1,423,22!
At the end of reporting period 984,204 1,943,80.

(Note 1)  The increase of 71,402 shares in the numibshares of treasury stock during the previous
fiscal year was due to an increase of 70,997 shasedting from an increase in the number
of consolidated subsidiaries and transactions wibh-controlling shareholders, and an
increase of 405 shares resulting from the purcbBseéd-lot shares. The decrease of 1,423,225
shares in the number of shares of treasury stogikgithe previous fiscal year was due to the
sale of 858,300 shares to the Employee Stock OwipelR$an, the decrease of 552,000 shares
resulting from the exercise of stock acquisitioghts (stock options), and the granting of
12,925 shares of restricted stock.

(Note 2)  The increase of 425 shares in the numbsgharfes of treasury stock in the current fiscaf yea
was due to an increase of 425 shares resulting frmmpurchase of odd-lot shares. The
decrease of 960,025 shares in the number of sbhbesasury stock in the current fiscal year
was due to a decrease of 479,500 shares resutbimgthie exercise of stock acquisition rights
(stock options), the sale of 467,600 shares tcEtheloyee Stock Ownership Plan, and the
granting of 12,925 shares of restricted stock.

(Note 3) The number of treasury shares at 31 Dece# and 2020 includes 499,500 shares and
967,100 shares, respectively, held by The NomuwnatTand Banking Co., Ltd (DMG MORI
Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive Trust)ttie Trust-Type Employee Stock
Ownership Incentive Plan.
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Capital surplus and retained earnings

The Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act"¥igies that an amount equal to 10% of the amount
to be disbursed as distributions of capital surphu retained earnings be transferred to the ¢apgtarve
and the legal reserve, respectively, until the stithe capital reserve and the legal reserve eqoa@5%

of the capital stock account.

Other equity instruments

The Company raised funds in the amounts of ¥4®hilhrough a perpetual subordinated loan (thet“firs
subordinated loan”) and ¥10 billion through perpétubordinated bonds (the “first subordinated lséhd
in September 201&37 billion through a perpetual subordinated Ifthe “second subordinated loan”) in
August 2020and ¥8 billion through perpetual subordinated bonts (second subordinated bonds”) and
¥25 hillion through perpetual subordinated bonde (tthird subordinated bonds”) in October 2020. In
August 2021, the Company raised funds in the ansooh¥30 billion ($260 million) through perpetual
subordinated bonds (the “fourth subordinated bonidsiedeem the first subordinated bonds and repay
part of the first subordinated loan.

Perpetual subordinated loans and perpetual sulatedirbonds are deemed to be classified as equity
instruments as the Group has the option to deferast payments and has no obligation to make patgne
except in case a liquidation event as defined énsthbordinated loan clause occurs. The proceets fro
the subordinated loans and the subordinated bdtetgladucting issue costs are recorded as “Othetye
instruments” under “Equity” in the consolidatedtstaent of financial position.

1. Overview of the First Subordinated Loan

(1) Name First subordinated loan

(2) Amount ¥40 billion

(3) Lender Mizuho Bank, Ltd., and Sumitomo Mitsui Bexy Corporation
(4) Execution date 20 September 2016

(5) Repayment date No repayment date is specified.

Provided, however, that on each interest paymen¢ deom 20
September 2021 onward, the Group has the optioepty all or part of
the principal and no obligation.
(6) Interestrate From 20 September 2016 to 20eB@ptr 2026: Variable interest based
on 6-month Japanese yen TIBOR
From 21 September 2026 onward: Variable interegipstd up by 1.00%
based on 6-month Japanese yen TIBOR
(7) Clauses relating to payment of interest
The Group has the option to defer the interest payared no obligation.
(8) Subordination clause
The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfieddre a liquidation event
defined in the loan contract occurs.
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2. Overview of the First Subordinated Bonds

1)

)
®3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

()

(8)

Name

Amount
Execution date
Repayment date

Interest rate

First step-up callable perpetual subotdahansecured bonds with
interest deferral options and optional redemptiause
(With Subordinated clause & Eligible institutionialestors only)
¥10 billion

2 September 2016

No repayment date is specified.
Provided, however, that on each interest paymeatfdam 2 September
2021 onward, the Group has the option to repapgradtipal (part is not
possible).

From 2 September 2016 to 2 Sdmel021: Fixed interest
From 3 September 2021 onward: Variable interegipgi@ up by 1.00%
based on 6-month euro - yen LIBOR

Clauses relating to payment of interest

The Group has the option to defer the interest payme

Subordination clause

The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfieddre an event defined in
the bond terms such as liquidation occurs.

Replacement restrictions

The Group has right to optional redemption or repase of the

subordinated bonds, it is assumed that the sulatetirbonds are being

replaced with equivalent bonds or loans certifigdabcredit rating

agency, that satisfy necessary conditions to besifiad as equity

instruments.

However, if at any point following five years frothe execution date,

both of the following conditions are satisfied,ist possible not to

refinance with equivalent financial instruments.

(a) Consolidated shareholders’ equity after thastdjent is more than
¥151.2 billion.

(b) The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustiris more than
26.8%.

The values stated above shall be calculated aceptdithe following

method.

Consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastns equal to total

equity attributable to owners of parent less ottenponents of equity

and other equity instruments.

The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustmentegual to

consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastras calculated

above divided by total assets.
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3. Overview of the Second Subordinated Loan

1)
()
®3)

(4)
(%)

(6)

()

(8)

9)

Name
Amount
Lender

Execution date
Repayment date

Interest rate

Second subordinated loan
¥37 billion
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited, Namank, Ltd., and 8 other
banks

31 August 2020

No repayment date is specified.
Provided, however, that on each interest paymeet flam 29 August
2025 onward, the Group has the option to repayorlpart of the
principal and no obligation.

From 31 August 2020 to 29 Au@@=x5: Fixed interest
From 30 August 2025 onward: Variable interest stelppp by 1.00%
based on 6-month Japanese yen TIBOR

Clauses relating to payment of interest

The Group has the option to defer the interest payarad no obligation.

Subordination clause

The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfiedane a liquidation event
defined in the loan contract occurs.

Replacement restrictions

The Group has the right to optional redemption @urehase of the

subordinated loan, it is assumed that the subaetinkban is being

replaced with equivalent bonds or loans certifigdabcredit rating

agency, that satisfy necessary conditions to besifiad as equity

instruments.

However, if at any point following five years frothe execution date,

both of the following conditions are satisfied,ist possible not to

refinance with equivalent financial instruments.

(a) Consolidated shareholders’ equity after thastdjent is more than
¥151.2 billion.

(b) The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustiris more than
26.8%.

The values stated above shall be calculated aceptdithe following

method.

Consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastns equal to total

equity attributable to owners of parent less otttanponents of equity

and other equity instruments.

The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustmentegual to

consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastras calculated

above divided by total assets.
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4. Overview of the Second Subordinated Bonds

1)

)
®3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

()

(8)

Name Second step-up callable perpetual subatetinunsecured bonds with
interest deferral options and optional redemptiause
(With Subordinated Covenant)

Amount ¥8 billion

Execution date 29 October 2020

Repayment date No repayment date is specified.
Provided, however, that on each interest paymeetfdam 29 October
2023 onward, the Group has the option to repapgradtipal (part is not
possible) and no obligation.

Interest rate From 29 October 2020 to 29 Oat8623: Fixed interest
From 30 October 2023 onward: Variable interestsepup by 3.00%
based on 6-month euro - yen LIBOR

Clauses relating to payment of interest

The Group has the option to defer the interest payarad no obligation.
Subordination clause
The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfiedane a liquidation event
defined in the bond terms occurs.
Replacement restrictions
None

5. Overview of the Third Subordinated Bonds

1)

()
@)
(4)

(5)

(6)

()

(8)

Name Third step-up callable perpetual subordihansecured bonds with
interest deferral options and optional redemptianse
(With Subordinated Covenant)

Amount ¥25 billion

Execution date 29 October 2020

Repayment date No repayment date is specified.
Provided, however, that on each interest paymeetfdam 29 October
2027 onward, the Group has the option to repagradtipal (part is not
possible) and no obligation.

Interest rate From 29 October 2020 to 29 Oat@627: Fixed interest
From 30 October 2027 onward: Variable intereststepup by 3.00%
based on 6-month euro - yen LIBOR

Clauses relating to payment of interest

The Group has the option to defer the interest payared no obligation.
Subordination clause
The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfiedane a liquidation event
defined in the bond terms occurs.
Replacement restrictions
None
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6. Overview of the Fourth Subordinated Bonds

1)

)
®3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

()

(8)

Name

Amount
Execution date
Repayment date

Interest rate

Fourth step-up callable perpetual subatdthunsecured bonds with
interest deferral options and optional redemptiause
(With Subordinated Covenant)

¥30 billion ($260 million)

31 August 2021

No repayment date is specified.

Provided, however, that on each interest paymetet flam 31 August
2026 onward, the Group has the option to repapgradtipal (part is not
possible) and no obligation.

From 31 August 2021 to 31 Au@@=x6: Fixed interest
From 1 September 2026 onward: Variable interegipgi@ up by 1.00%
based on 1-year Japanese government bonds

Clauses relating to payment of interest

The Group has the option to defer the interest payarad no obligation.

Subordination clause

The subordinated creditors have right to claim &rayment only after
the all claims by senior creditors are satisfiedane a liquidation event
defined in the bond terms occurs.

Replacement restrictions

The Group has right to optional redemption or repase of the

subordinated bonds, it is assumed that the sulatetirbonds are being

replaced with equivalent bonds or loans certifigdabcredit rating

agency, that satisfy necessary conditions to besifiad as equity

instruments.

However, if at any point following five years frothe execution date,

both of the following conditions are satisfied,ist possible not to

refinance with equivalent financial instruments.

(a) Consolidated shareholders’ equity after thastdjent is more than
¥151.2 billion.

(b) The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustiris more than
26.8%.

The values stated above shall be calculated aceptdithe following

method.

Consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastns equal to total

equity attributable to owners of parent less otttanponents of equity

and other equity instruments.

The consolidated equity ratio after the adjustmentegual to

consolidated shareholders’ equity after the adjastras calculated

above divided by total assets.
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7. Discretionary interest payments for other eqingtruments

The following payments on the other equity instruteemere made for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020:

Payment amount

2021
Thousands of
Category Payment date Millions of yen U.S dollars
The first subordinated 22 March 2021 ¥ 439 $ 3,818
loar
21 Septembe202z0 20,448 177,797
The second subordinated26 February 2021 181 1,577
loar
31Augus 20z1 188 1,639
The first subordinated 1 March 2021 93 808
bond:
2 September 20: 10,093 87,757
The second subordinated?8 April 2021 40 347
bond:
28 October 202 40 347
The third subordinated 28 April 2021 300 2,608
bond:
28 October 202 300 2,608
Payment amount
2020
Category Payment date Millions of yen
The first subordinated 23 March 2020 ¥ 451
loar
23 September 20: 44¢
The first subordinated 28 February 2020 93
bond:
1 September 20: 93
The balance of other equity instruments at the énledfiscal year 2021 is as follows:
Balance
Thousands of
Category Millions of yen U.S dallars
The first subordinated ¥ 20,000 $ 173,897
loar
The second subordinated 37,000 321,711
loar
The first subordinated - -
bond:
The second subordinated 8,000 69,559
bond:
The third subordinated 25,000 217,372
bond:
The fourth subordinated 30,000 260,846
bond:
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8. Fixed future payment on other equity instruments
Subsequent to 31 December 2021 and 2020, the falippayments were determined before the
approval date of the consolidated financial stateme

Payment amount

2021
Thousands of
Category Payment date Millions of yen U.S dollars
The fourth subordinated 25 February 2022
bond: ¥ 135 $1,173
The second subordinated 28 February 2022
loar 183 1,595
The first subordinated 22 March 2022
loar 221 1,921
Payment amount
2020
Category Payment date Millions of yen
The second subordinated 26 February 2021
loar ¥ 181
The first subordinated 22 March 2021
loar 43¢
The first subordinated 1 March 2021
bond: 93

9. During the fiscal year 2021, the Company repgiért of the first subordinated loan and redeemed
the first subordinated bonds. The difference of ¥3@0on ($2,613 thousand) between the amount
of repayment and redemption and the amount of temuim other equity instruments is recorded
as capital surplus. The same amount was transfeEmedcapital surplus to retained earnings.
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(5) Other components of equity

The movement in other components of equity is devial:

Millions of yen

2021
Changes in
Exchange Effective fair value
Remeasure differences portion of measurements
-ments of on changes in  of fair value
defined translation fair value of through OCI
benefit of foreign cash flow financial Stock
plans operations hedges assets options Total
Beginning balance ¥ - ¥ (24,632) ¥ 27 ¥ 3,290 ¥166  ¥(21,148)
Other comprehensive
income 380 7,034 (473) 10,828 - 17,769
Treasury shares disposition - - - - (132) (132)
Share-based payments - - - - (33) (33)
Issuance of convertible
bonds - - - - 253 253
Transfer from other
components of equity to
retained earnings (380) - - (3,985) - (4,365)
Ending balance ¥ - ¥ (17,598) ¥ (446) ¥ 10,133 ¥ 253 ¥ (7,657)
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Changes in
Exchange Effective fair value
Remeasure- differences  portion of measurements
ments of on changes in  of fair value
defined translation fair value of through OCI
benefit of foreign cash flow financial Stock
plans operations hedges assets options Total
Beginning balanc $ - $ (214,176) $ 235 $ 28,608 $ 1445 $(183,887)
Other comprehensive
income 3,311 61,162 (4,116) 94,150 - 154,507
Treasury shares disposit - - - - (1,154) (1,154)
Shar«-based paymer - - - - (290) (290)
Issuance of convertible
bond: - - - - 2,202 2,202
Transfer from other
components of equity to
retained earnin (3,311) - - (34,650) - (37,961)
Ending balance $ - $ (153,013) $ (3,881) $ 88,108 $ 2,202 $(66,583)
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Millions of yen

2020
Changes in
Exchange  Effective fair value
Remeasure difference  portion of measurements
-ments of son changesin  of fair value
defined translation fair value of through OCI
benefit of foreign  cash flow financial Stock
plans operations hedges assets options Total
Beginning balance ¥ - ¥(19,188) ¥15 ¥ 2,154 ¥ 322  ¥(16,695)
Other comprehensive
income 87 (5,444) 11 222 - (5,121)
Treasury shares disposition - - - - (152) (152)
Share-based payments - - - - 3) 3)
Transfer from other
components of equity to
retained earnings (87) - - 913 - 825
Ending balance ¥ - ¥(24,632) ¥ 27 ¥ 3,290 ¥ 166 ¥ (21,148)

Descriptions and purposes of other componentsuifyegre explained as follows:

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans compriseugal gains and losses.

Exchange differences on translation of foreign opeations

Exchange differences on translation of foreign ojama arising from the translation of the foreign
currency financial statements of foreign subsidiri

Effective portion of changes in fair value of caslfiow hedges

This is the effective portion of changes in the failue of derivative transactions designated als ftas/
hedges.

Changes in fair value measurements of fair value thugh OCI financial assets

This is a valuation difference on fair value thro@@l financial assets.

Stock options

The Company has stock option plans and issues sfiitkns under the Companies Act. For details on the
conditions and amounts, please refeltte 23, “Share-based Payments.”

In addition, the Company has issued convertibledeamder the Companies Act.

The terms of the agreement and the amounts, etolviets are described iNote 15, “Interest-bearing
Bonds and Borrowings.”
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22. Dividends

(1) Dividends paid

Dividends paid for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020z follows:
2021

Total dividends Dividends per

(Millions of yen) share
Class of (Thousands of (Yen)
Resolution shares U.S dollars) (U.S dollars) Record date Effective date

Annual general Ordinary ¥ 1,250 ¥ 10 31 December 30 March
meeting of shares 2020 2021
shareholders held on $ 10,876 $ 0.08

29 March 202
Board of Directors  Ordinary ¥ 1,253 ¥ 10 30 June 2021 10 September
meeting held on 5 shares 2021

August 2021 $ 10,901 $ 0.08

(Note 1) The amount of dividends based on Annuaégdmmeeting of shareholders held on 29 March
2021 includes ¥9 million ($84 thousand) of dividerghid to the exclusive trust account of
“DMG MORI Co., Ltd. Employee Shareholders Associatitxclusive Trust,” which is held by

The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

(Note 2) The amount of dividends based on Boardigddiors meeting held on 5 August 2021 includes
¥6 million ($58 thousand) of dividends paid to éxelusive trust account of “DMG MORI Co.,
Ltd. Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive{Trudich is held by The Nomura Trust
and Banking Co., Ltd.
2020
Dividends per
Class of  Total dividends share
Resolution shares (Millions of yen) (Yen) Record date Effective date
Annual general Ordinary ¥ 3,739 ¥ 30 31 December25 March
meeting of shares 2019 2020
shareholders held on
24 March202C
Board of Directors  Ordinary ¥ 1,248 ¥ 10 30 June 202018 September
meeting held on 27  shares 2020

August 2020

(Note 1) The amount of dividends based on Annuaégdmmeeting of shareholders held on 24 March
2020 includes ¥54 million of dividends paid to thelusive trust account of “DMG MORI Co.,
Ltd. Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive{Ttughich is held by The Nomura Trust

and Banking Co., Ltd.
(Note 2)

The amount of dividends based on Boardidbors meeting held on 27 August 2020 includes

¥12 million of dividends paid to the exclusive trieccount of “DMG MORI Co., Ltd.
Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive Trughjth is held by The Nomura Trust and

Banking Co., Ltd.
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(2) Dividends whose record date is in the fiscary2021 but whose effective date is in the folloyviscal

year are as follows:

2021
Total dividends Dividends per
(Millions of yen) share
Class of (Thousands of (Yen)
Resolution shares U.S dollars) (U.S dollars) Record date Effective date
Annual general Ordinary ¥ 3,767 ¥ 30 31 December 23 March
meeting of shares 2021 2022
$ 32,755 $ 0.26

shareholders held on
22 March 202

The amount of dividends based on the anrersdigl meeting of shareholders held on 22 March

(Note)

2022 includes ¥14 million ($130 thousand) of divids paid to the exclusive trust account of

DMG MORI Co., Ltd. Employee Shareholders Associafiowalusive Trust,” which is held by

The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

2020
Dividends per
Class of  Total dividends share
Resolution shares (Millions of yen) (Yen) Record date Effective date
Annual general Ordinary ¥ 1,250 ¥ 10 31 December30 March
meeting of shares 2020 2021

shareholders held on
29 March 202

The amount of dividends based on the anreraig meeting of shareholders held on 29 March
2021 includes ¥9 million of dividends paid to thelesive trust account of DMG MORI Co.,
Ltd. Employee Shareholders Association ExclusiveiTrusich is held by The Nomura Trust

(Note)

and Banking Co., Ltd.
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23. Share-based Payments

The Group has introduced stock options, restrictedkscompensation plan, and trust-type employemskst
ownership incentive plan as share-based payments.

The share-based payments provide incentives to eathe medium- to long-term corporate value ofahaup
as well as to promote the strengthening of busiped®rmance by raising awareness of the Groupsiness
performance and share price of the Company.

(1) Description of stock options
1. Outline of stock options
The Company grants stock options as equity-settiadesbased payments to its executive officers and
certain of its and its consolidated subsidiariegpbyees, in order to raise their motivation fohancing
the corporate value of the Company and securetémlgrersonnel.

The outline of stock option plan is as follows:

Issue The Company (DMG MORI O,, LTD.)
Date of resolution at the
Board of Directors Meetir 13 September 2016

Corporate officers of the Company 20
Employees of the Company 75
Grantees (person) Executive officers of the Company’s subsidiaries 15
Employees of the Compa’s subsidiaies 49
Clas: and number ogranted sharc  Common stock, 2,410,000 she
Grani date 30 September 20
Continuous service with the Company or its subsieliain the state of
Vesting conditions being employed or entrusted from the grant dateS@ftember 2016)
to thevesting date13 Septembe2(18)
Service perioc From 30 September 2016 to 13 Septen2018
Exercisable peric From 14 Septener2018to 13 September 20

2. Changes in the number of shares for outstarstoak options (100 shares per 1 option)

Shares
2021 2020

Beginning balanc 600,000 1,166,001
Grantet - -
Expirec (120,500) (14,000
Exercised (479,500) (552,000)
Ending balance - 600,000
Exercisable outstanding balance at the

reporting dat - 600,000

(Note)  The weighted-average share prices of stotirmpat the time of exercise were ¥1,780 ($15.47)
and ¥1,531 for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020 ectaely.
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3. Measurement approach for fair value of stockoost
The fair value of stock options has been estimagidguthe Black-Scholes model. The fair value and
assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:
Granted on 30 September 2016
(Decided on 13 September 2016)

Issue price per options (Ye 27,70(
Share price at the grant date ( 1,04z
Exercise price of the option (Ye 1,09(
Expected volatility of the share price { 47.72¢
Expected remaining life of the option (ye: 3.4¢
Expected dividend yield (¢ 2.49¢
Risk-free interest rate for the remaining life lof t

option (% (0.267)

The exercise price shall be the amount that is emguidle average of the daily closing prices (exicigd
days on which no transactions are establishedpmwinmon stock of the Company in regular transactions
at the Tokyo Securities Exchange during the calenatarth immediately prior to the month in which the
grant date of the stock acquisition rights belomgsitiplied by 1.05, and any fraction less than gar
resulting therefrom shall be rounded down; provided, however, that in the event that this amount is less
than the closing price of common stock of the Camypa regular transactions at the Tokyo Securities
Exchange as of the grant date (the closing prictherday immediately preceding the grant date if no
transactions are established on the grant datejetbvant closing price shall be the exerciseepric

The expected volatility of the share price is caltedl based on past weekly share prices correspptalin
the remaining life of the option.

The Company has adjusted the exercise price ofpitiens granted on 30 September 2016 from ¥1,121

to ¥1,090 due to disposal of treasury shares dta pelow the market price, for which the paymgun
date was 31 March 2017.
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(2) Description of restricted stock compensatiampl
1. Restricted stock compensation piamoduced by the Company

(i) Granted on 6 April 2018
The Company has introduced a restricted stock cosapiem plan (the “Plan”) as equity-settled share-
based payment since the fiscal year 2018 for thempgamy’'s executive directors excluding outside
directors (the “Eligible Directors”), for the purposf further promoting shared value with sharehslde
and providing an incentive to sustainably increhgeCompany’s corporate value.
For introducing the Plan, the Company and each@®Bligible Directors have made an arrangement on
allotment of restricted stocks, which includesgfighibiting the shares from being transferred edgkd
to a third party or otherwise disposed of in anynne during a certain specified period and (2)veilhg
the Company to reclaim the shares at no cost undeain specified circumstances. This transfer
restriction period is 30 years and the transfetrict®n is lifted for all shares held by Eligibleidctors
when the transfer restriction period expires, andbndition that the Eligible Directors continuéhtid a
position of director, executive officer not conantly serving as director, audit & supervisory lubar
member, employee or fellow, or any other equivalposition of the Company during the transfer
restriction period. The fair value of the restrititock is measured based on the observable naiket

2018
Grant dat 6 April 201¢
Class and number of granted sh Common stock 153,4!
Fair value as of grant date (Y 1,954

(i) Granted on 21 December 2021

The Company has introduced a restricted stock cosaiem plan (the “Plan”) as equity-settled share-
based payment since the fiscal year 2021 for theg@my’s executive officers and employees (the
“Officers and Employees”) for the purpose of promglian incentive to sustainably increase the
Company’s corporate value.

For introducing the Plan, the Company and eachhefeligible Officers and Employees have made an
arrangement on allotment of restricted stocks, wimcludes (1) prohibiting the shares of DMG MORI
AG from being transferred or pledged to a thirdtypar otherwise disposed of in any manner during a
certain specified period and (2) allowing the Comp#o reclaim the shares at no cost under certain
specified circumstances. As a rule, the vestingpdeshall be 10 years, and the transfer restrigtietiod

is from the grant date of the relevant common stodke date of retirement of the eligible Officarsd
Employees, and the transfer restriction is lifteddib shares held by the eligible Officers and Ergplks
when the transfer restriction period expires, amdition that the eligible Officers and Employeeatioue

to hold positions of Officers and Employees in @@mpany during the transfer restriction period, and
that the vesting period has been completed bydhre pt which they retire. The fair value of thetriesed
stock is measured based on the observable maiket pr

2021
Grant dat 21 December 2021
Class and number of granted shares Common stock of DMG MORI AG
785,700
Fair value as of grant date (Eur 41.89
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2. Restricted stock compensation plan issued byoToki Co., Ltd.
Taiyo Koki Co., Ltd. (“Taiyo Koki"), one of DMG MORICO., LTD.’s consolidated subsidiaries, has
introduced a restricted stock compensation plam ‘{#an”) as equity-settled share-based paymenesin
2018 for Taiyo Koki's executive directors excludimgitside directors (the “eligible directors”) and
employee, for the purpose of raising their motwatand providing an incentive to sustainably enkanc
the corporate value.
(i) Granted on 27 March 2018
For introducing the Plan, Taiyo Koki and each éligidirectors and employees have made an arrangemen
on allotment of restricted stocks, which includBstlie eligible directors and employees must rastdfer,
create a security interest on, or otherwise dispafs@aiyo Koki's common shares allotted by an
arrangement on allotment of restricted shares dwxispecified period, and (2) Taiyo Koki will talkack
the allotted shares without cost in case that iteei@ents happen. The restricted period on stocistea
is 40 years. This compensation vests as of thedfragpiration of the restricted period under thaditon
where the eligible directors and employees holdtipos in Taiyo Koki throughout the restricted fueti
The fair value of the restricted stock is measuskt on the observable market price.

2018
Grant dat 27 March 201
Number of shares granted Common stock of Taiyo Kuki Ltd.
25,90(
Fair valueasof grant date (Yen 2,565

(ii) Granted on 11 June 2020

For introducing the plan, the company and eaclibdiglirector and employee have made an
arrangement on allotment of restricted stocks, vincludes (1) the eligible directors and employees
must not transfer, create a security interest ootleerwise dispose of the company’s common shares
allotted by an arrangement on allotment of regtdchares during a specified period, and (2) the
company will take back the allotted shares withmast in case that certain events happen. Theatestri
period on stock transfer is 40 years for eligibtectors and employees (executive officers), agddts
and 2 months for eligible employees (managersk €bimpensation vests as of the time of expiratfon o
the restricted period under the condition wheresiiwble directors and employees (executive office
and managers) hold positions in the company througthe restricted period.

The fair value of the restricted stock is measurskt on the observable market price.

2020
Grant dat 11 June 20z
Number of shares granted Common stock of Taiyo Kuki Ltd.
26,80(
Fair valueasof grant date (Yen 97¢

(iif) Granted on 24 March 2021

For introducing the plan, the company and eaclibddiglirector have made an arrangement on allotment
of restricted stocks, which includes (1) the eligibirectors must not transfer, create a secunigréest

on, or otherwise dispose of the company’s commaneshallotted by an arrangement on allotment of
restricted shares during a specified period, apth@company will take back the allotted sharetbovit
cost in case that certain events happen. Theaestperiod on stock transfer is 40 years. This
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compensation vests as of the time of expiratiothefrestricted period under the condition where the
eligible directors hold positions in the compansotighout the restricted period.
The fair value of the restricted stock is measui@skd on the observable market price.

2021
Grant dat 24 March 2021
Number of shares granted Common stock of Taiyo Koki Co., Ltd.
4,700
Fair value as of grant date (Y 1,238 ($10.76)

(3) Description of trust-type employee stock owhgrsncentive plan
The Company has implemented a trust-type emplope& stvnership incentive plan (“the Incentive Plan”)
as cash-settled share-based payment since théyesma2018 to provide incentives for its employé&es
enhance the medium- to long-term corporate valueeCompany.
The Incentive Plan is available to all employees Wwbkitong to the DMG MORI Employee Shareholders
Association (“the Association”). Under the Incewti?lan, the Company sets up a trust — DMG MORI
Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive Truste('Exclusive Trust”) — through a trust bank. The
Exclusive Trust estimates the number of sharesthi@af\ssociation is likely to acquire in the futuaed
purchases this amount during the acquisition pesegtdn advance. Then the Exclusive Trust will dsdi t
Company'’s shares to the Association on the sameadatry month. The Exclusive Trust will continuously
sell the Company’s shares to the Association, fiat mmount equivalent to net gains on the Comgany’
shares has accumulated in the Exclusive Trust wieetrist period expires, such money will be disitiiol
as residual assets to members of the Associatianméet beneficiary eligibility criteria. This digtution
is cash-settled transaction and the fair valuehef liability is measured on every reporting datehat
discounted present value of estimated cash flonsf #se end of the trust period in accordance i
provisions in the trust contract.
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The fair value of the Incentive Plan has been estichasing the Monte-Carlo method. The fair value and
assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

2021 2020

Share price (Yel 1,977 ($17.19) ¥1,56¢
Remaining shari 499,500 967,10(
Expected volatility of the share price *

(%) 37.894 38.217
Expected remaining life of the option

(years 35 4.t
Risk-free interest rate for the

remaining life of the option (9 (0.099) (0.125)

*The expected volatility of the share price is cédted based on past daily share prices correspgriali
the expected remaining period.

The liabilities arising from share-based paymenaremg the Incentive Plan are as follows:
2021 2020

Carrying amount arising from the cash-
settled share-based payments
(Millions ofyen’ - i

(4) Share-based payment expenses

Share-based payment expenses on the consolidatethent of profit or loss are as follows:
Thousands of U.S.

Millions of yen dollars
2021 2020 2021
Expenses arising from the restricted stock
compensation ple ¥ 65 ¥ 4 $ 572
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Financial Instruments

Capital management

The Group’s capital management policy is to maintinoptimal capital structure in order to achieve
sustained improvement in the enterprise value dathér growth in global machine tool markets. The
Group monitors financial indicators, such as ROEi(Raf profit to equity attributable to owners dfet
Parent), EPS (earnings per share) and the equity matorder to maintain an optimal capital struetu
The Group is not subject to any material capitalitatipn.

The Group raises necessary capital partly by issnévg shares and bonds, borrowings from banks and
liquidation of receivables for mainly operationtated to the manufacturing and sales of machinks too
based on the demand for funds from its operatitigites.

Risk management policy

The Group is exposed to financial risk (credit riggidity risk, foreign exchange risk, interestaaisk

and market volatility risk) in operating its busiseand manages these risks based on its policiitata
them.

The Group manages surplus funds by investing onghort-term deposits and others and does not enter
into speculative transactions. The purpose of dévidransactions is, in principle, to hedge tleksias
described herein, and transactions are not caotietbr speculative purposes.

Credit risk

1. Credit risk management
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty willtmoeet its obligations under a financial instrunsemt
customer contract, leading to a financial loss.
Cash and cash equivalents are held only with ban&dinancial institutions with high credit ratings
therefore, the corresponding credit risk is vemyitiéd.
Trade and other receivables are exposed credibfiskstomers. The Group regularly monitors the
credit information related to customer operatirajrok and manages collection dates and outstanding
balances in accordance with its credit controlgolihe Group’s receivables do not have significant
concentration of credit risk on specific countetigaror counterparty groups.
Other accounts receivable is also exposed to aiskiithowever they are settled in short-term period.
Derivative transactions included in other financakets and liabilities are exposed to credit risks
associated with the banks and financial institigiatith which the Group has a business relationship.
To minimize the counterparty risk when enteringoimkerivative transactions, counterparties are
limited to financial institutions with high crediatings.

2. Maximum exposure of credit risk
The maximum exposure of credit risk at the end difbpefor the fiscal year 2021 is carrying amount
after impairment of financial assets, however thveas no significant bad debt loss in prior years.
The Group has granted certain financial guarantedgtese are exposed to the credit risk of those
entities for which the guarantees were granted.eOthan guarantee obligations, the Group’s
maximum exposures to credit risk, without takingpimccount any collateral held or other credit
enhancements, is the carrying amount of the firgrinstruments less impairment losses in the
consolidated statement of financial position arelaimount of guarantee obligations as disclosed in
Note 37, “Contingent Liabilities.”
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Credit risk management practices

Credit risk exposure of the Group regarding trade @ther receivables and other financial
instruments is as follows:

Credit risk exposure of trade receivables is maabat an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses. In addition, considering the status of i@t credit risk, such as a debtor’s financial
condition at the end of the fiscal year and past tbebt loss and overdue payment, the financial
instruments are classified as “Debtors not facingrfcial difficulties” or “Debtors facing significa
financial difficulties” and allowance for doubtfoéceivables is recognized by measuring expected
credit losses for each category. “Debtors not fadinancial difficulties” refer to those that exitib

no indication of problems in repaying their debid ao problems in their ability to repay their debt
Allowance for doubtful receivables on receivablemf the debtors in this category is recognized
collectively using a provision ratio based on ddrisal loan loss ratio and future estimates. “Debt
facing significant financial difficulties” refer tthose that are facing or will likely face, serious
problems in repaying their debts. Allowance for bihul receivables on receivables from the debtors
in this category is recorded based on the estimaittelctable amount of the respective assets on an
individual basis.

The Group evaluates at the end of each reportinggerhether there is a significant increase in
credit risk of “other receivables and other finaheissets” since initial recognition. When theraas
significant increase in credit risk since initigicognition, the amount equal to 12-month expected
credit losses is recognized as allowance for dauteteivables. When there is a significant inceeas
in credit risk since initial recognition, the amawgual to lifetime expected credit losses of the
financial assets is recognized as allowance fobtloureceivables.

A “significant increase in credit risk” refers tosduation in which there are serious concerns aabou
collectability of receivables at the end of thearing period compared to that at initial recogpniti
When evaluating whether or not there is a signifidgacrease in credit risk, the Group takes into
consideration reasonably available and supporialidemation, such as a debtor’s operating results
for past periods and management improvement ptawged as past due information.

Allowance for doubtful receivables on “trade antiestreceivables and other financial assets” is
recognized using a method to estimate credit lasséctively or individually according to the erte

of the debtor’s credit risk. However, when the debtare in serious financial difficulty or legally
substantially bankrupt, allowance for doubtful igables is recognized using a method to estimate
credit losses individually by considering the regebiles as credit-impaired financial assets.
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Information on trade receivables
Carrying amounts of trade receivables and allowémcdoubtful receivables are as follows:

Trade receivables

Millions of yen
2021
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balanc ¥ 42,058 ¥ 82 ¥ 42,140
Ending balanc ¥ 54,631 ¥ 113 ¥ 54,744
Thousands of U.S dollars
2021
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balanc $ 365,690 $716 $ 366,406
Ending balanc $ 475,014 $ 985 $ 475,999
Millions of yen
2C20
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balanc ¥52,94( ¥ 86 ¥ 53,021
Ending balanc ¥ 42,05¢ ¥ 82 ¥42,14(
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Millions of yen
2021
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balance ¥ 2,980 ¥ 82 ¥ 3,063
Increas during the ye: 1,183 103 1,286
Decrease during the
yeal (837) (82) (919)
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of foreign
operations (299) 10 (289)
Ending balanc ¥ 3,027 ¥113 ¥ 3,140
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Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balance $ 25,917 $716 $ 26,634
Increase during the ye 10,290 896 11,187
Decrease during the
yeal (7,280) (716) (7,997)
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of foreign
operations (2,607) 88 (2,519)
Endingbalanc $ 26,320 $ 985 $ 27,305
Millions of yen
2020
Debtors not facing Debtors facing Total
financial difficulties | significant financial
difficulties
Beginning balanc ¥2,63: ¥ 8€ ¥2,72(
Increase during the ye 1,07¢ 87 1,16
Decrease during the
yeal (834 (86) (921
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of foreign
operations 10t (4) 10C
Ending balanc ¥ 2,98( ¥82 ¥ 3,06:

Information on other receivables
The carrying amounts of other receivables and alhmedor doubtful receivables are as follows:

Other receivables

Millions of yen

2021
Financial assets Financial assets measured at same amount as éfetim ~ Total
measured at same expected credit loss
amount as 12-month Financial assets whose | Credit-impaired financial
expected credit losses| credit riskhas increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior

Beginning balanc ¥ 3,486 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 3,486
Ending balanc ¥ 8,073 ¥ - ¥- ¥ 8,073
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc $ 30,311 $- $-| $30,311
Ending balanc $ 70,195 $- $-| $70,195
Millions of yen
2C20
Financial assets measuredjat Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetin)  Total
same amount as 12-month expected credit loss
expected credit losses | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc ¥ 5,003 ¥- ¥- ¥ 5,003
Ending balanc ¥ 3,48¢ ¥- ¥- ¥ 3,48¢
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Millions of yen
2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balance ¥- ¥ - ¥- ¥-
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc ¥- ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Financial assets measured  Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetin]  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balance $- $- $- $-
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc $- $- $- $-
Millions of yen
2C2C
Financial assets measurad Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc ¥- ¥- ¥- ¥-
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc ¥- ¥- ¥- ¥-
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Information on other financial instruments
The carrying amounts of allowance for doubtful reables of other financial instruments and certain
receivables are as follows:
Other financial instruments

Millions of yen

2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as éfetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc ¥ 8,249 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 8,249
Ending balanc ¥ 8,382 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 8,382
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as éfetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc $71,729 $- $-| $71,729
Ending balanc $ 72,887 $- $-| $72,887
Millions of yen
202(
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as &fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc ¥7,08¢ ¥- ¥- ¥7,08¢
Ending balanc ¥ 8,24¢ ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 8,24¢
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Millions of yen
2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balance ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ -
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balance $- $- $- $-
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc $- $- $- $-
Millions of yen
2C2C
Financial assets measured Financial assets measured at same amount as #fetim  Total
at same amount as 12- expected credit loss
month expected credit | Financial assets whose credit Credit-impaired financial
losses risk has increased assets
significantly since initial
recognitior
Beginning balanc ¥- ¥- ¥- ¥-
Increas - - - -
Decreas - - - -
Other (Exchange
differences on
translation of
foreign operation: - - - -
Ending balanc ¥- ¥- ¥- ¥-

(4) Liquidity risk
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk that it midifave difficulty settling its financial obligations
Trade and other payables, bonds and borrowingstued financial liabilities are exposed to liquyditsk.
However, the Group manages liquidity risk by mamitey liquidity on hand and credit lines from fircal
institutions that enable the Group to meet itsgailons based on funding plans that are updated in
timely manner.
Financial liabilities by maturity date are as foll
The contractual cash flows in the table are basetherundiscounted cash flows, reflecting interest
payments. Of the other financial liabilities, thgeed on demand are included within one yeatr.
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Non-derivative financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing bonds and

borrowings
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for external
shareholders)
Other financial liabilities
(Preferred shares)
Other financial liabilities
(Lease liability)
Other financial liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities:

Other financial liabilities

Total

Non-derivative financial
liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing bonds and
borrowings
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for
external shareholders)
Other financial liabilities
(Preferred shares)
Other financial liabilities
(Lease liability)
Other financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities:
Other financial liabilities

Total

Millions of yen

2021
Over one year
Carrying Contractual Within one within five Over five
amounts cash flows year years years
¥ 54,169 ¥ 54,169 ¥ 54,169 ¥- ¥-
95,393 95,648 10,578 85,030 40
53,876 54,688 54,688 - -
14,957 15,128 15,128 - -
23,056 25,678 5,391 10,133 10,154
3,837 3,424 531 2,892 -
1,356 1,356 1,356 - -
¥ 246,647 ¥ 250,095 ¥ 141,845 ¥ 98,056 ¥ 10,194
Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021
Over one
Carrying Contractual ~ Within one  year within Over five
amounts cash flows year five years years
$ 470,999 $ 470,999 $ 470,999 $- $-
829,433 831,656 91,980 739,328 347
468,447 475,511 475,511 - -
130,056 131,542 131,542 - -
200,469 223,272 46,877 88,105 88,288
33,364 29,773 4,620 25,152 -
11,798 11,798 11,798 - -
$ 2,144570 $2,174555 $1,233,331  $852,587 $ 88,636
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Millions of yen
2020
Over one year
Carrying Contractual Within one within five Over five
amounts cash flows year years years

Non-derivative financial
liabilities:

Trade and other payables ¥ 47,908 ¥ 47,908 ¥ 47,908 ¥- ¥-

Interest-bearing bonds and

borrowings 102,406 102,893 37,742 65,110 40
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for
external shareholders) 51,976 53,057 53,057 - -

Other financial liabilities

(Preferred shares) 14,915 15,514 257 15,257 -

Other financial liabilities

(Lease liability) 21,645 24,664 5,700 11,366 7,597

Other financial liabilities 4,296 4,524 553 3,970 0
Derivative financial liabilities:

Other financial liabilities 394 394 394 - -
Total ¥ 243,542 ¥ 248,957 ¥ 145,614 ¥ 95,704 ¥ 7,637

Borrowing commitments and other credit lines

For effective financing purposes, the Group conetutine-of-credit agreements with several banks and

financial institutions. The status of such agreemensummarized as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Credit line ¥ 340,356 ¥ 385,61 $ 2,959,362
Borrowings 40 22,040 347
Unused balance ¥ 340,316 ¥ 363,578 $ 2,959,015
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(5) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates globally and its business trénsacdenominated in foreign currencies other than
the functional currencies of each group entity exposed to foreign exchange risks. The underlying
currencies of these transactions are mainly thankse yen, the U.S. dollar and the Euro.
Trade receivables and trade payables denominatedeign currencies are exposed to foreign exchange
risk, which is, in principle, hedged using foreigrchange forward contracts, limited to the necgssar
amounts, in order to mitigate the risk of fluctoas of foreign currencies identified by each curyen
The analysis of exposures to foreign exchange fisheoGroup is as follows:

Millions of yen

2021
Japanese yen U.S. dollars Euro
Net exposure ¥ (1,506) ¥(1,232) ¥ 35,867
Per each locecurrenc $(10,716) thousand €274,827 thousand

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Japanese yen U.S. dollars Euro
Net exposure $ (13,098) $ (10,716) $ 311,866

Millions of yen

2020
Japanese yen U.S. dollars Euro
Net exposure ¥ (1,476 ¥8,06! ¥ 61,58¢
Per each local curren $77,884 thousai €485,046 thousal

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The financial impact on profit before income taxasthe years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 in the
case of a 1% increase in the Japanese yen, whibke Sompany’s functional currency, against the.U.S
dollar and Euro is as follows:

It is based on the assumption that all parametéer than the currencies used for the calculatomain
constant. In addition, these amounts are basedeaftect of translation. The effects of forecasales
revenues and purchases are not taken into account.

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Japanese yen ¥ 15 ¥ 14 $ 137
U.S. dollar 12 (80) 107
Euro (358) (615) (3,118)

(Note)  The impact on profit or loss due to the fuation of the Japanese yen in the above table is
related to financial assets or financial liabiktiedlenominated in Japanese yen of foreign
subsidiaries.
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(6) Interest rate risk
Non-current floating rate borrowings in the Group axposed to interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The financial impact on profit before income taxasthe years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 in the
case of a 1% increase in interest rates is asisilo

It is based on the assumption that all parametbes than the interest rates used for the calauagmain
constant. In addition, the table below represdmscbrresponding sensitivity analysis on the badasfc
variable interest rate, excluding the portion afrbwings whose interest payments are substanfizéyl
through a corresponding interest rate swap.

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021
Profit before income
taxes ¥ (62) ¥ (535) $ (544)

(7) Equity instruments measured at fair value througlerotomprehensive income
The Group holds listed shares and others of comgpavith which it has business relationships. These
equity instruments are designated as equity ingnisimeasured at fair value through other
comprehensive income considering the purpose aftaiaing and strengthening relationships.

1. Major issuers and fair value
Major issuers and fair value at 31 December 202112820 are as follows:

Issuers Millions of yen Thousands of U.S.
dollars

2021 202C 2021
TULIP Interfaces, In ¥ 13,288 ¥ 2,64( $ 115,540
nLIGHT, INC. 1,379 1,692 11,997
The Nanto Ban, Ltd. 925 83C 8,044
Aero Edgt 600 60C 5,216
ADAMOS Gmbk 513 49¢ 4,466
CKD Corporatiol 369 34¢ 3,216
THK CO., LTD. 304 36¢ 2,649
MARUKA FURUSATO
Corporatiol 238 13C 2,072
DAIKIN INDUSTRIES,
LTD. - 2,10¢ -
YAMAZEN
CORPORATIOM - 1,23: -
Shimadzu Corporatic - 1,325 -
Othel 635 634 5,529
Total ¥ 18,256 ¥12,41: $ 158,734
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2. Derecognized equity instruments measured at fairevarough other comprehensive income
Fair value at the date of derecognition and curiudajain or loss on equity instruments (before
tax) measured at fair value through other compreilierincome derecognized during the year are as

follows:
Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S dallars
2021 202C 2021
Fair value at the date o
derecognitio ¥ 1,475 ¥ 77 $ 12,828
Cumulative gain or loss
on dispos: ¥ 4,018 ¥ 47 $ 34,937

(Note 1) The Group derecognized certain equity imsémts measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income after selling them malok to reviewing the business
relationship during the year.

(Note 2) In case that equity instruments measutréairavalue through other comprehensive
income are derecognized, cumulative gain or lossg®ized in other comprehensive
income (after tax) is reclassified to retained &sys

3. Dividend income
The breakdown of dividend income recognized fromitgquastruments measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income is as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S dollars
2021 202C 2021

Equity instruments
derecognized during the
yeal ¥ 6 ¥ - $ 57
Equity instruments held
at the end of ye 77 1c4 $ 674
Total ¥ 84 ¥ 104 $ 732

4. Equity instruments sensitivity analysis
The Group holds listed shares of companies with lwhiibas business relationships, and such
equity instruments are exposed to market volatilgle. The Group continually assesses the market
situation by periodically reviewing share pricesl dime financial positions of the issuers (business
partners).
The financial impact on other comprehensive incons ¢f tax) for the fiscal years 2021 and 2020
in the case of a 10% decrease in listed sharesigaes follows. It is based on the assumptiondhat

arameters other than the share prices used faatbelation remain constant.

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S dollars
2021 2C20 2021
Other comprehensive incol ¥ (252) ¥ (584) $ (2,193)

95



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(8) Fair value of financial instruments
Carrying amounts and fair value of financial instents are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021 2020 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
amounts value amounts value amounts Fair value

Financial assets measured at
amortized cost:
Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 47,298 ¥ 47,298 ¥ 33,754 ¥ 33,754 $411,258 $ 411,258

Trade and other

receivables 59,677 59,677 42,563 42,563 518,888 518,888
Other financial assets
including loans 8,382 8,382 8,249 8,249 72,887 72,887

Financial assets measured at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
Other financial assets
(Equities) 18,256 18,256 12,412 12,412 158,734 158,734
Financial assets measured at
fair value through profit or
loss included in other
financial assets:
Derivative assets 907 907 227 227 7,893 7,893

Total ¥ 134,522 ¥ 134,522 ¥97,208 ¥97,208 $1,169,662 $ 1,169,662

Financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost:
Trade and other payables ¥ 54,169 ¥ 54,169 ¥47,908 ¥47,908 $470,999 $470,999
Interest-bearing bonds and
borrowings 95,393 95,444 102,406 102,416 829,433 829,877
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for

external shareholders) 53,876 53,848 51,976 52,012 468,447 468,210
Other financial liabilities

(Preferred shares) 14,957 14,968 14,915 14,936 130,056 130,150
Other financial liabilities

(Lease liabilities, etc) 26,893 26,893 25,941 25,941 233,834 233,834

Financial liabilities
measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative liabilities 1,356 1,356 394 394 11,798 11,798

Total ¥ 246,647 ¥ 246,681 ¥ 243,542 ¥ 243,609 $2,144570 $ 2,144,870
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Methods to determine the fair value of financiadets and liabilities measured at amortized cost are
summarized as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amount approximates the fair valuetdube short maturities of the instruments.

Trade and other receivables
The carrying amount approximates the fair valuetdube short maturities of the instruments.

Other financial assets including loans

The fair value of the non-current loans and othearftial assets including loans is calculated based
the present value of total amount of principal aridrest discounted by the expected interest rased
on the maturity term and credit risk consideringrgeto maturity. On the other hand, the carryingam
of the current portion approximates the fair value to the short maturities of the instruments.

Trade and other payables
The carrying amount approximates the fair valuetdube short maturities of the instruments.

Interest-bearing bonds and borrowings

For euro-yen denominated convertible bonds, fdmevés calculated by discounting at a rate thagsak
into account credit risks and the remaining timeilunaturity of the bonds, while other bonds are
calculated using the market price at the end ofiifoal year. The fair value of non-current borroggn
with fixed interest rates is calculated based enptesent value of total amount of principal artériest
discounted by the expected interest rate basetematurity term and credit risks considering years
maturity. On the other hand, the carrying amourthefcurrent portion approximates the fair value ttu
the short maturities of the instruments.
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Other financial liabilities

The fair value of the payment obligations for exégishareholders (the liabilities arising from beangn
effective into force of the DPLTA) is calculatedsked on the present value of the total amount ohastd
future payments to the external shareholders digediby the expected interest rate based on thagay
period and credit risk considering years to paysent

The Group classifies its preferred shares outstgrasrfinancial liabilities in accordance with IFBifce

the shares must be redeemed at a certain poimefih the future.

The fair value of the preferred shares is calculdtased on the present value of future cash flows
discounted by the expected interest rate incluthiegcredit risk premium considering years to maturi
period and credit risk.

The fair value of other financial liabilities inclind) lease liabilities is calculated based on thesent
value of total amount of principal and interestcdisnted by the expected interest rate based on the
maturity term and credit risks considering yearmaiurity.

Methods to determine the fair value of financialeis measured at fair value through other compsaen
income are summarized as follows:

Other financial assets (Equities)
The fair value of listed shares is based on the etgmiice, and when no market price exists for risted
shares, a rationally calculated amount principaigasured based on net asset value is used.

Methods to determine the fair value of financialeds and liabilities measured at fair value thropigtiit
or loss are summarized as follows:

Derivative assets and liabilities

The fair value of foreign exchange forward contraotduded in derivative assets and liabilities is
determined based on respective market price anbeof the reporting period. The fair value of ietsr
rate swaps is calculated based on the present wélastimated future cash flows discounted by the
expected interest rate based on the maturity temnapplicable swap rates at the end of the regprtin
period.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as foow

Fair value of financial instruments is categoriggthin the fair value hierarchy described as fokofnom
Level 1 to Level 3. Any significant transfers of fireancial instruments between levels are recognated
the date of events that causes the transfers agekan the status.

Level 1 — Fair value measured using quoted priceadjuisted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  Fair value measured using inputs othar theted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability eitheectly or indirectly

Level 3—  Fair value measured using unobservablgsripr the asset or liability
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Financial instruments measured at amortized cost
The carrying amount and the respective level irfditevalue hierarchy of financial instruments measu

at amortized cost at the end of the reporting plesie as follows:

Millions of yen
2021
Fair value
Carrying
amounts Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Interest-bearing
long-term borrowings ¥ 45,442 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 45,442 ¥ 45,442
Interest-bearing bonds 49,679 - 49,730 - 49,730
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for
external shareholders) 53,876 - - 53,848 53,848
Other financial liabilities
(Preferred shares) ¥ 14,957 ¥ - ¥- ¥ 14968 ¥ 14,968

(Note)  The balance of interest-bearing long-ternmmdwings and interest-bearing bonds includes those
due within one year.

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Fair value
Carrying
amounts Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Interest-bearing
long-term borrowings $ 395,120 $- $- $ 395,120 $ 395,120
Interest-bearing bonds 431,961 - 432,405 - 432,405
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for
external shareholders) 468,447 - - 468,210 468,210
Other financial liabilities
(Preferred shares) $ 130,056 $- $- $ 130,150 $ 130,150

(Note)  The balance of interest-bearing long-termmdwings and interest-bearing bonds includes those
due within one year.
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Millions of yen

2020
Fair value
Carrying
amounts Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Interest-bearing
long-term borrowings ¥ 60,438 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 60,438 ¥ 60,438
Interest-bearing bonds 19,967 - 19,977 - 19,977
Other financial liabilities
(Payment obligation for
external shareholders) 51,976 - - 52,012 52,012
Other financial liabilities
(Preferred shares) ¥ 14,915 ¥ - ¥- ¥ 14936 ¥ 14,936

(Note)  The balance of interest-bearing long-ternmmdwings and interest-bearing bonds includes those

due within one year.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments mesduat amortized cost, except for long-term
borrowings and bonds and other financial liab#iti@ayment obligation for external shareholders and

preferred shares), approximates the fair value.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value

The carrying amount and the respective level irfdlvevalue hierarchy of financial instruments measu
at fair value at the end of reporting period aréotlews:

Millions of yen
2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets:

Financial assets measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income
Other financial assets (Equities)

Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative assets - 907 - 907
Total ¥ 3,223 ¥ 907 ¥ 15,032 ¥ 19,163
Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities measured at fair

value through profit or loss included in
other financial liabilities:

Derivative liabilities
Total

¥ 3,223 ¥ - ¥ 15,032 ¥ 18,256

- 1,356

- 1,356
¥ - ¥ 1,356 ¥

- ¥ 1,356

(Note)  There have been no significant transfers éetw._evels 1 and 2 of the fair value measurement
hierarchy during the fiscal year 2021.

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021

Level 3 Total

Level 1 Level 2
Financial assets:

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Other financial assets (Equities) $

28,032 $ - $ 130,702 $ 158,734
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative assets - 7,893 - 7,893
Total $ 28,032 $ 7,893 $ 130,702 $ 166,627
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss included in
other financial liabilities:
Derivative liabilities - 11,798 - 11,798
Total $ - $ 11,798 $ - $ 11,798

(Note)  There have been no significant transfers déetw_evels 1 and 2 of the fair value measurement
hierarchy during the fiscal year 2021.
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Millions of yen

Financial assets:
Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Other financial assets (Equities) ¥ 8,049
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative assets -

Total ¥ 8,049

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss included in
other financial liabilities:
Derivative liabilities -

2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Y- ¥ 4,363 ¥ 12,412
227 - 227
¥ 227 ¥ 4,363 ¥ 12,640
394 - 394
¥ 394 ¥ - ¥ 394

Total ¥ -

(Note)  There have been no significant transfers éetw.evels 1 and 2 of the fair value measurement

hierarchy during the fiscal year 2020.

The fair value of non-listed shares categorizediwitlevel 3 is measured by the adjusted net asséinuet
The financial assets and financial liabilities catézed in Level 2 are mainly derivative transactions
related to foreign exchange forward contracts andsscurrency interest rate swaps. The fair valdies o
foreign exchange forward contracts and cross-cayrdnterest rate swaps are measured based on
observable market data, such as interest ratedynprovided by counterparty financial institutions.

The movement in fair value of financial instrumetdsegorized within Level 3 of the fair value hietarc

is as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Beginning balance ¥ 4,363 ¥ 3,796 $ 37,940
Total gain and loss:
Other comprehensive income
(Note 1) 9,316 18 81,003
Purchases 1,387 625 12,066
Sales (35) - (308)
Transfer from Level §Note 2) - (122) -
Other - 46 -
Ending balance ¥ 15,032 ¥ 4,363 $ 130,702

(Note 1) Gain and loss included in other compreiveniscome are included in changes in fair value
measurements of financial assets at fair valueutifraother comprehensive income in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive incomthéfiscal years 2021 and 2020.

102



(9)

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(Note 2)  Transfer from Level 3 is due to becomingaasociated company due to having an important
influence.

Derivative and hedge accounting

(i) Overview of hedge accounting

The Group uses foreign exchange forward contradiedge the risk of foreign currency transactiorts an
applies hedge accounting by designating the casti@s cash flow hedges. The Group recognizes the
economic relationship between the hedging instrunaend the hedged item as the key condition for
foreign exchange forward contracts matches theitondf highly probable forecast transactions,hsuc
that the notional amount, payment date and so be.droup sets the hedge ratio on a one-to-one basis
because the risk of foreign currency transactisnisléntical to the hedged risk component. The Group
evaluates the effectiveness of the hedge by comgpalianges in the fair value of the hedging insémnim
with those of the hedged item. Hedge ineffectivermeay arise due to the following:

- Mismatches in timing between the cash flows efltedging instrument and those of the hedged item
- Counterparties’ credit risk differently impactittige fair value movements of the hedging instrument
and hedged item

- Changes in estimated cash flows of the hedgistguiment and those of the hedged item

The average exchange rates in the foreign exchamg@rd contracts are 110.46 JPY / USD and 133.11
JPY / EUR.
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Cash flow
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Foreign
exchange
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contracts
(foreign
exchange risl
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Foreign
exchange
forward
contracts
(foreign
exchange risk)

Cross currency
interest rate
swaps (foreign
exchange and
interest rate
risk)

Total

DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(i) Information on items designated as hedgingrimeents

The impact of the hedging instruments on the Groopissolidated statement of financial position is as
follows:
Millions of yen
2021

Changes in fair value of the
hedging instruments used in

Carrying amounts of the

hedging instruments Disclosure item in the consolidated

Contract Over one (Fair value) calculation of recognition of the  statements of financial position which
amount year Asset Liabilities  ineffective portion of the hedge includes the hedging instruments
Other financial assets (current)
and
¥ 67,748 ¥ - ¥ 907 ¥ 888 - Other financial liabilities (current)
¥ 67,748 ¥ - ¥ 907 ¥ 888 -
Thousands of U.S dollars
2021
Carrying amounts of the  Changes in fair value of the
hedging instruments hedging instruments used in Disclosure item in the consolidated
Contract Over one (Fair value) calculation of recognition of the  statements of financial position which
amount year Assets Liabilities  ineffective portion of the hedge includes the hedging instruments
Other financial assets (current)
and
$ 589,070 $- $7.893 $7,728 - Other financial liabilities (current)
$589,07( $- $7,89: $7,72¢ -
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Millions of yen

2020

Carrying amounts of the
hedging instruments

Changes in fair value of the

Disclosure item in the
consolidated statements

(Fair value) hedging instruments used in of financial position
Contract Over one o calculation of recognition of the  which includes the
amount year Assets Liabilities  jneffective portion of the hedge  hedging instruments
Cash flow
hedges
Foreign
exchange Other financial assets
forward (current)
contracts and
(foreign Other financial
exchange risl ¥ 39,26¢ ¥ - ¥ 227 ¥ 39 - liabilities (current
Cross currency
interest rate
swaps (foreign
exchange and
interest rate
risk) . . - -
Total ¥ 39,268 ¥ 227 ¥ 394 -

(i) Information on hedged items
The impact of the hedged items on the Group’s cagesteld statements of financial position is as feio

Millions of yen

2021

Changes in fair value of the

hedged items used in
calculation of recognition of Cash flow hedge reserve
the ineffective portion of the
hedge

from continued hedge
accounting

Cash flows hedge
reserve from
discontinued hedge
accounting

Cash flow hedges

Highly probable forecast
transactions (foreign
exchange risk on trade
receivables)

Highly probable forecast
transactions (foreign
exchange risk on trade
payables)

Floating rate borrowings in
foreign currency (foreign
exchange risk and interest
rate)

(467)

Total

(467)

(Note) Before tax effect
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Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021

Changes in fair value of the
hedged items used in calculationCash flow hedge reserve Cash flows hedge reserve
of recognition of the ineffective from continued hedge  from discontinued hedge
portion of the hedge accounting accounting

Cash flow hedges
Highly probable forecast

transactions (foreign

exchange risk on trade

receivables) $ - $ (4,066) $ -
Highly probable forecast

transactions (foreign

exchange risk on trade

payables) - -
Floating rate borrowings in

foreign currency (foreign

exchange risk and interest

rate)
Total $ - $ (4,066) $ -

(Note) Before tax effect

Millions of yen

2c2¢
Changes in fair value of the
hedged items used in Cash flows hedge
calculation of recognition of Cash flow hedge reserve reserve from
the ineffective portion of the from continued hedge discontinued hedge
hedge accounting accounting

Cash flow hedges
Highly probable forecast

transactions (foreign

exchange risk on trade

receivables) ¥ - ¥ 26 ¥ -
Highly probable forecast

transactions (foreign

exchange risk otrade

payables) - 12
Floating rate borrowings in

foreign currency (foreign

exchange risk and interest

rate)
Total ¥ - ¥ 38 ¥ -

(Note) Before tax effect
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(iv)

comprehensive income

Impact of application of hedge accounting ba tonsolidated statements of profit and loss and

The impact of the hedging instruments on the Groogrssolidated statements of profit and loss and

comprehensive income is as follows:

Millions of yen
2021
Disclosure item
in the
Cash flow consolidated Disclosure item
hedges statements of in the
recognized in income which Amount of consolidated
other Ineffective includes the reclassification statements of
comprehensive portion of the ineffective adjustment from  income which
income during hedge portion of the  cash flow hedge  includes the
the reporting  recognized in hedge reserve to profit  reclassification
period(Note) profit or loss recognized or loss adjustment
Cash flow hedges
Highly probable forecast transactions
(foreign exchange risk on trade Other operating
receivables) ¥ (467) ¥ - - ¥ 26 costs
Highly probable forecast transactions Other operating
(foreign exchange risk on trade payables) - - - 12 costs
Floating rate borrowings in foreign currency
(foreign exchange risk and interest rate) - - - : -
Total ¥ (467) - ¥ 38
(Note) Before tax effect
Thousands of U.S dollars
2021
Cash flow Disclosure item in
hedges the consolidated Disclosure item in
recognized in Ineffective statements of Amount of the consolidated
other portion of income which reclassification statements of
comprehensive  the hedge includes the adjustment from  income which
income during  recognized ineffective portion  cash flow hedge includes the
the reporting in profit or of the hedge reserve to profit  reclassification
period(Note) loss recognized or loss adjustment
Cash flow hedges
Highly probable forecast transactions
(foreign exchange risk on trade Other operating
receivables) $ (4,066) $ - $ 227 costs
Highly probable forecast transactions
(foreign exchange risk on trade Other operating
payables) - - 108 costs
Variable interest rate borrowings in
foreign currency (foreign exchange
risk and interest rate) - - - -
Total $(4,066) $ $ 336

(Note) Before tax effect
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Millions of yen

2020
Disclosure
item in the
Cash flow consolidated Disclosure item
hedges statements of in the
recognized in income which Amount of consolidated
other Ineffective includes the reclassification statements of
comprehensive portion of the ineffective adjustment income which
income during hedge portion of the from cash flow includes the
the reporting recognized in hedge hedge reserve reclassification

period(Note) profit or loss recognized to profit or loss  adjustment

Cash flow hedges
Highly probable forecast transactions
(foreign exchange risk on trade

receivables) ¥ 26 ¥ - - ¥ - -
Highly probable forecast transactions

(foreign exchange risk on trade Other operating

payables) 12 - - (0) costs
Floating rate borrowings in foreign

currency (foreign exchange risk and Other operating

interest rate) - - - 20 revenues
Total ¥ 38 ¥ - ¥ 20

(Note) Before tax effect

(v) Movement in other components of equity (charigdair value of the hedging instruments)

Millions of yen Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars
2021 2020 2021
Beginning balance ¥27 ¥15 $235
Transactions during the reporting period
Highly probable forecast transactions (foreign
exchange risk on trade receivables) ¥ (467) ¥ 26 (4,066)
Highly probable forecast transactions (foreign
exchange risk on trade payables) - 12 -
Variable interest rates borrowings in foreign cooe
(foreign exchange risk and interest rate) - - -
Reclassification adjustment to profit or loss (38) (20) (336)
Tax effect 32 (6) 286
Ending balance ¥ (446) ¥ 27 $ (3.881)
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(10) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from fimcing activities
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from finan@ractivities is as follows:

Short-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings
Interest-bearing bonds
Dividends payable
Payment obligation for
external shareholders
Debt instruments
(preferred shares)
Debt instruments (lease
liabilities, etc.)
Total

Millions of yen

2021
Non-cash chang:
Cash flows Cash flows
from from Foreign  Measuring at Appropriation

Beginning financing  operating exchange amortized of retained Ending

balance activities activities  differences cost earnings New lease  balance
¥ 22,000 ¥ (21,730) ¥ - ¥ 0 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 270
60,438 (15,882) - 817 69 - - 45,442
19,967 29,634 - - 77 - - 49,679
47 (2,584) - - - 2,585 - 48
51,976 (8) (1,326) 1,475 1,758 - - 53,876
14,915 - - - 42 - - 14,957
25,935 (6,566) - (1,087) 497 - 8,107 26,886
¥ 195,281 ¥ (17,138) ¥ (1,326) ¥ 1,206 ¥ 2,445 ¥ 2585 ¥ 8,107 ¥191,161
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Short-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings
Interest-bearing bonds
Dividends payable
Payment obligation for
external shareholders
Debt instruments
(preferred shares)
Debt instruments (lease
liabilities, etc.)
Total
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Non-cash chang:
Cash flows Cash flows
from from Foreign  Measuring at Appropriation

Beginning financing operating exchange amortized of retained New Ending

balance activities activities  differences cost earnings lease balance
$191,290 $(188,942) $- $3 $- $- $- $2,351
525,508 (138,099) - 7,110 600 - - 395,120
173,616 257,669 - - 675 - - 431,961
409 (22,474) - - - 22,482 - 417
451,928 (75) (11,533) 12,833 15,293 - - 468,447
129,687 - - - 368 - - 130,056
225,509 (57,096) - (9,456) 4,323 - 70,496 233,776
$1,697,952 $(149,018) $(11,533) $10,490 $ 21,262 $22,482 $70,496 $1,662,132
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Short-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings
Interest-bearing bonds
Dividends payable
Payment obligation for
external shareholders
Debt instruments
(preferred shares)
Debt instruments (lease
liabilities, etc.)
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Millions of yen

202(
Non-cash chang:
Cash flows Cash flows
from from Foreign  Measuring at Appropriation

Beginning financing  operating exchange amortized of retained Ending

balance activities activities  differences cost earnings New lease  balance
¥ 18,401¥ 2,680 ¥ - ¥ 018 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 22000
70,352  (8,346) - (1,598) 31 - - 60,438
19,943 - - - 24 - - 19,967
48 (5,038) - - - 5,037 - 47
92,318 (42,289) (1,249) 154 3,042 - - 51,976
14,873 - - - 41 - - 14,915
23,490 (6,311) - 735 519 - 7,501 25,935
¥ 239,427 ¥ (59,305) ¥ (1,249) ¥ 209 ¥ 3,660 ¥5,037 ¥ 7,501 ¥ 195,281
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25. Sales Revenues
(1) Breakdown of sales revenue
The breakdown of sales revenues is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars

2021 2020 2021
Sales of products ¥ 266,662 ¥ 228,201 $ 2,318,602
Service revenue 129,321 100,061 1,124,434
Other 27 21 241
¥ 396,011 ¥ 328,283 $ 3,443,278

Total

Sales of machine tools are recognized when coatrible product is transferred to customers (usialthe
time of shipment or final acceptance) based orctimract. For the provision of services and sohgjo
revenue is recognized when the performance obdigatéfined in the contract is satisfied (usuallyewlthe
services are delivered, etc.). The consideratiothi® transaction is received approximately withire year
of fulfilling the performance obligation, exceptéases when it is received as advances receivedtprihe
satisfaction of the performance obligations, anelsdaot include significant financial components.
Revenue is measured at the amount of a promisesidawation in contracts with customers less distoun
and rebates, and net of the amount of sales reflinese were no material discounts, rebates, os satarns

in the fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

The relationship between sales revenues by geogwdrea and segment sales revenues is as follows:

Millions of yen

2021
Reportable segmel Adjustment Consolidated
Machine Industrial Total Corporate Elimination
tools service! service:
Sales evenus

Japan ¥ 89,894 ¥ 46,916 ¥ 136,810 ¥ - ¥ (73,659) ¥ 63,151
Germany 145,588 24,710 170,299 1,538 (70,203) 101,634
Americas 60,721 26,294 87,015 - (11,775) 75,240
Europe other

thanGerman' 102,799 38,165 140,965 - (25,641) 115,324
China and Asia 33,875 17,097 50,973 - (10,312) 40,661
Total ¥ 432,880 ¥ 153,184 ¥ 586,064 ¥1,538 ¥(191,590) ¥ 396,011
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021
Reporting segmer Adjustment Consolidated
Machine Industrial Total Corporate Elimination
tools service service
Sales revenu

Japan $ 781,623 $407,929 $1,189,553 $- $ (640,458) $ 549,095
Germany 1,265,880 214,856 1,480,737 13,373 (610,413) 883,697
Americas 527,966 228,625 756,592 - (102,384) 654,207
Europe other

than

German 893,831 331,848 1,225,679 - (222,946) 1,002,732
China and

Asia 294,547 148,660 443,207 - (89,662) 353,544
Total $3,763,849 $1,331,921 $5,095,770 $13,373 $(1,665,857) $ 3,443,278

Millions of yen
2020
Reportable segments Adjustments Consolidated
Machine Industrial Total Corporate Elimination
tools service service
Sales revenu

Japan ¥ 100,76« ¥37,52¢ ¥138,29: ¥- ¥ (79,232 ¥ 59,05¢
Germany 119,40! 20,88: 140,28 1,454 (59,703 82,03¢
Americas 55,60: 17,48: 73,084 - (9,570 63,51
Europe other

than Germar 80,53! 31,66! 112,19¢ - (17,194 94,99¢
China and Asia 22,14: 11,82: 33,96: - (5,290 28,67:
Total ¥ 378,44 ¥119,37: ¥497,82( ¥1,45¢ ¥(170,991 ¥ 328,28

(2) Balance of outstanding contracts
Balance of receivables from contracts with custenaeid contract liabilities are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S doallars
2021 2C2C 2021
Receivables from contract
with customer ¥ 54,744 ¥42,14( $ 475,999
Contract liabilitie: ¥ 65,707 ¥ 33,67¢ $571,317

Receivables from contracts with customers are dedun trade and other receivables in the condelitia
statement of financial position.

Contract liabilities consist of advances receivied ather payments received prior to fulfillment of
performance obligations, such as when orders aeed| based on contracts with customers. The @bntra
liability is derecognized when the performance gdtion under the individual contract is satisfiedd
revenue is recognized at the same time. Sincedhiedobetween the establishing a contract (e.gorder)
and the fulfillment of the performance obligatiosually does not exceed one year, significant firsnc
components are not included.

Revenues recognized during the fiscal year 202uidled in contract liabilities at the beginning béffiscal
year amounting to ¥33,679 million ($292,838 thouBaand during the fiscal year 2020 included intraet
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liabilities at the beginning of the fiscal year amting to ¥37,517 million. The expected contraantef the
remaining performance obligation is one year os.les

26. Other Operating Revenues
The breakdown of other operating revenues is agvist!

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Exchange gain ¥ 1,812 ¥ 1,565 $ 15,758
Received commission 258 407 2,244
Gain on sales of fixed asset 339 1,114 2,948
Other 3,693 3,362 32,117
Total ¥ 6,103 ¥ 6,451 $ 53,068
27. Other Operating Costs
The breakdown of other operating costs is as follows
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021
Commissions ¥ 16,235 ¥ 15,476 $ 141,168
Sales promotion costs 5,031 4,209 43,744
Freight and packaging costs 13,231 10,263 115,047
Other 25,261 21,035 219,646
Total ¥ 59,759 ¥ 50,985 $ 519,606
28. Personnel Costs
The breakdown of personnel costs is as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Remuneration and salar ¥ 83,720 ¥ 74,33¢ $ 727,942
Bonuse 12,312 8,951 107,054
Social security and welfare exper 18,401 16,78 160,002
Retirement benefit expen: 2,729 3,06: 23,728
Shar~based compensation exper 65 47 572
Other employee benefit expenses 2,097 4,632 18,237
¥ 119,327 ¥ 107,818 $ 1,037,538

Total
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29. Financial Income
The breakdown of financial income is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Financial incom
Interest income
Financial assets measured at
amortized co: ¥ 345 ¥ 252 $ 3,003
Dividend income
Financial assets measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive incor 84 104 732
Total ¥ 429 ¥ 357 $ 3,735
30. Financial Costs
The breakdown of financial costs is as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S doallars
2021 2020 2021
Financial cost
Interest expenses on bonds and
borrowings
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized co: ¥ 2,160 ¥ 2,35¢ $ 18,785
Financial costs arising from DPL":
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized co: 1,758 3,042 15,293
Total ¥ 3,919 ¥ 5,399 $ 34,078

115



DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

31. Other Comprehensive Income
The breakdown of each component of other comprebhemsiome and the corresponding tax effects (innd
non-controlling interests) is as follows:

Millions of yen

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021

2C20

2021

Before
tax
effect

Tax
effect

After tax
effect

Before
tax
effect

Tax
effect

After
tax
effect

Before tax
effect

Tax effect

After tax
effect

Items that will not be reclassifie
subsequently to profit or lo:
Remeasurements of defined bent
plans

Amount arising durinthe yea ¥ 543

¥ (163)

¥ 380

¥ 153

¥ (65)

¥87

$4,727

$(1,419)

$ 3,308

Net changes during the y: 543

(163)

380

153

(65)

87

4,727

(1,419)

3,308

Changes in fair valumeasuremen of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive incor

Amount arising during the ye 11,255

(428)

10,826

521

(322)

198

97,864

(3,724)

94,139

Net changes during the y: 11,255

(428)

10,826

521

(322)

198

97,864

(3,724)

94,139

Share of other comprehensive income
associates and joint ventures accounted
for using equity metho

Amount arising during the ye -

Net changes during the y -

Subtota 11,799

(591)

11,207

674

(387)

286

102,591

(5,143)

97,447

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to prof

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operation

Amount arising during the ye 7,01z
Reclassification adjustments
profit -

7,01

(5,478

(5,478

60,98

60,98:

Net change during the ye 7,013

7,013

(5,478)

(5,478)

60,983

60,983

Effective portion of changes in fair
value of cash flow hedge
Amount arising during the ye (467)

Reclassification adjustments to
profit (38)

21

11

(44¢)

27)

38

(20)

(11)

27

(15)

(4,066)

(336)

185

100

(3,881)

(235)

Net changes during the yi (506)

32

(473)

18

(6)

11

(4,402)

286

(4,116)

Share of other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using equity meth

Amount arising during the ye 6

Reclassification adjustments to
profit -

13

57

57

Net change during the y¢ 6

13

13

57

57

Subtota 6,514

32

6,546

(5,445)

(6)

(5,452)

56,638

286

56,924

Total other comprehensive inco ¥18,313

¥(558)

¥17,754

¥(4,771)

¥(394)

¥(5,166)

$ 159,230

$ (4,857)

$ 154,372
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32. Earnings Per Share
The basis of the calculation of basic earnings paresand diluted earnings per share is as follows:

Millions of yen, Thousands of
except as otherwise indicated U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021

Profit attributable to owners of
the parent ¥ 13,460 ¥ 1,745 $ 117,040
Profit not attributable to
ordinary shareholders of
the parent 2,030 1,326 17,658
Profit used for basic earnings
per share attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the

parent 11,429 419 99,382
Adjustment for diluted

earnings - - -
Diluted earnings ¥ 11,429 ¥ 419 $99,382

Weighted-average number of
common shares
(Thousands of shares) 124,578 123,300
Increase in number of
common stock shares for
diluted earnings per share
Increase due to exercising
stock options
(Thousands of shares) - 121
Weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding
for diluted earnings per share
(Thousands of shares) 124,578 123,421

Basic earnings per share

(Yen) (U.S. dollars) ¥ 9175 ¥ 340 $ 079
Diluted earnings per share
(Yen) (U.S. dollars) ¥ 9175 ¥ 3.40 $ 0.79

(Note)  Basic earnings per share is calculated bigidig profit attributable to owners of the paretfter
deducting the amount attributable to owners of o#wgiity instruments by the average number of
common shares excluding the average number ofumgabares during the year. Diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting for the effectall dilutive potential common shares. For the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 vérage number of treasury shares during the
year includes the shares of the Company (Averageeuof shares during the year of 701,131 shares
and 1,358,923 shares, respectively) held by Thewarfrust and Banking Co., Ltd. (DMG MORI
Employee Shareholders Association Exclusive Trusg) td the implementation of the “Trust-Type
Employee Stock Ownership Incentive Plan.
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Business Combinations

There was no material business combination duriadisical years 2021 and 2020.

34.

(1)

(@)

35.

(1)

Domination and Profit and Loss Transfer Agreemen

Entry into force of Domination and Profit anddsoTransfer Agreement
On 24 August 2016, the DPLTA between DMG MORI GmigiembH”), one of the Company’s
consolidated subsidiaries, and DMG MORI AKTIENGESELLSGH (“AG”) came into effect.
AG is subject to the DPLTA based on German Comgdaay, which enables an entity to give direct
instructions to a decision-making body, normallg thoard meeting of another entity. In addition,emd
the agreement, all profit or loss of AG since 2@&lBansferred to GmbH.
Shareholders of AG, except for GmbH (hereinafter‘égxternal shareholdersfave two options; either
to offer their shares to GmbH in exchange for & cagnpensation amount, or to receive a recurrimgiain
cash compensation from GmbH.
Therefore, GmbH undertakes upon demand of the edtestmareholders to purchase their shares in
exchange for the amount of €37.35 per share, payothem the recurring annual cash compensation of
€1.17 per share.
The obligation of GmbH to purchase the shares wig@aily two months after the effective date of the
agreement. However, since some external sharelsdlugated a judicial appraisal proceeding to auhi
a higher recurring compensation or a higher exengigce of the share purchase option, as the rekalt
share purchase period has been extended to twdmafier the date on which the final ruling hasrbee
announced in the Federal Gazette based on the Gelama The amounts of the recurring cash
compensation and the exercise price of the shaohase option have been audited and certifiediabyfa
independent auditors appointed by a German couartlarefore, the Group believes that those amounts
are appropriate.

Outline of accounting treatments and significanteash transactions

Due to the DPLTA being effective, the Group recagdithe net present value of the expected future
payment obligations as other financial liabilitinghe consolidated statement of financial position
As a result of remeasurement of the discounteceptaslue of the future payment obligations to
external shareholders at the end of fiscal yeal 20@ Group recognized ¥53,876 million ($468,447
thousand) of other financial liabilities (current) the consolidated statement of financial posjtard
¥1,758 million ($15,293 thousand) of financial osh the consolidated statement of profit or loss f
the fiscal year 2021.

Principal Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of theu@iiaclude:

Description of . .
. . o Ownership rati . .
Name of company Business location)  principal %) Relationship
business
(Consolidated subsidiai
DMG MORI Nordrhein-Westfalen Suﬁee:;'tse'gn of 86.4 m:gg%ﬁgg%_
AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT | Germany companies Officers 3 persons
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Description of

Ownership rati

Name of company Business locatiorn principal %) Relationship
business
Purchase anc
holding of Interlocking
shares of directorates:
Nordrhein-Westfalen| ¢2mPanies Officers 2 persons
DMG MORI GmbH whose main 100 P
Germany business Employee 1 person
: The Company lendhe
purpose is to fund
sell machine unas.
tools
DECKEL MAHO Pfronten Manufacture
Bayern, Germany and sale of 100 -
GmbH .
machine tools
DECKEL MAHO Seebach L
GmbH Thiringen, Germany| n 100 -
GILDEMEISTER Nordrhein-Westfalen ) 100 )
Drehmaschinen GmbH Germany
DMG MORI Ultrasonic Rheinland-Pfalz, ) 100 )
Lasertec GmbH Germany
. Sale and
DMG MORI Stuttgart GmbH| Baden-wurttembergy oo oo ot 100 ;
Germany .
machine tools
. Manufacture
DMG MORI Additive GmbH | Nordrhein-westialen) =o'l of 100 :
Germany ;
machine tools
. Sale and
DMG MORI Management | Nordrhein-Westfalen -
GmbH Germany service of 100 -
machine tools
Wojewddztwo Manufacture
FAMOT Pleszew Sp.z 0.0. | wielkopolskie, and sale of 100 -
Poland machine tools
Ulyanovsk Machine Tools Ulyanovsk, Russia ) 100 )
000
GRAZIANO Tortona S.r.l. Piemonte, Italy n 100 -
Gildemeister Italiana S.r.l. Lombardia, Italy n 100 -
Sale and
DMG MORI ltalia S.R.L. Lombardia, Italy service of 100 -
machine tools
DMG MORI FRANCE SAS | Roissy, France I 100 -
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Name of company

Business location]

Description of
principal
business

Ownership rati

(%)

Relationship

DMG MORI USA, INC.

lllinois, U.S.A.

N

100

Sales company of the
products of the
Company
Interlocking
directorates:

Officers 3person

DMG MORI
MANUFACTURING USA,
INC.

California, U.S.A.

Manufacture
and sale of
machine tools

100

Manufacturing
company of the
products of the
Company
Interlocking
directorates:
Officers 3person

DMG MORI TIANJIN
Manufacturing Co. Ltd.

Tianjin, China

N

100

Manufacturing
company of the
products of the
Company

Interlocking
directorates:

Officers 3 persons
Employee 1 person
The Company borrows
the funds

DMG MORI Sales and
Service Co., Ltd.

Nakamura-ku,
Nagoya, Aichi

Sale and
service of
machine tools

100

Sales company of the
products of the
Company

Interlocking
directorates:

Officers 3 persons
The Company borrows
the funds

Taiyo Koki Co., Ltd.

Nagaoka, Niigata

Manufacture
and sale of
machine tools

51.1

Joint purchasing of ray
materials

Interlocking
directorates:

Officer 1persol

Magnescale CO., LTD.

Isehara, Kanagawa

Manufacture
and sale of
measuring
equipment

100

Manufacturing
company of the parts g
the products of the
Company

Interlocking
directorates:

Officers 3 persons
The Company borrows
the funds

DMG MORI B.U.G. CO,,
LTD.

Atsubetsu-ku,
Sapporo, Hokkaido

Development
and sales of
software /
hardware

100

Develop the software
for the products of the
Company

Interlocking
directorates:

Officers 3 persons
The Company lends
and borrous the funds

Other 106 subsidiaries

(Associated Companie
11 companie

=
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

(2) Significant non-controlling interests in subaries
The Group does not recognigignificant non-controlling interests in its subatiks.

36. Related Party Transactions
(1) Transactions with related parties
Transactions with related parties carried out dytire reporting period are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
Name of related Details of Transaction amounts Transaction amounts
Category parties transactions 2021 2020 2021
Associate e MORI - Sales of ¥ 17,002 ¥ 13,007 $ 148,614
Finance GmbH  products
Receivables and payables due from and to majdetefzarties are as follows:
Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dallars
2021 2020 2021
Name of related Details of
Category parties transactions Receivables Payables Recevables Payables Recevables Payables

DMG MORI Sales of

Associate .
! Finance Gmbl  product: ¥ 2235 ¥2285 ¥ 125( ¥ 118z $19,436 $ 19,869

(2) Key management compensation
The breakdown of key management compensation iGthep is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Compensation and bonuses ¥ 1,818 ¥ 1,172 $ 15,809
Share-based payments 18 18 159
Total ¥ 1,836 ¥ 1,190 $ 15,968

(Note 1) Key management compensation is paid &etiirs, including outside directors, of the Company
and important directors of DMG MORI AG.

(Note 2) The compensation and bonuses paid to teetdis of DMG MORI AG totaled ¥915 million
($7,962 thousand) and ¥627 million for the fisazés 2021 and 2020.

(Note 3) Share-based payments are costs of restritbck compensation for the directors, excluding
outside directors of the Company.
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DMG MORI CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coathu

37. Contingent Liabilities
The breakdown of guarantee obligations is as follows

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S dollars
2021 2020 2021
Guarantees for lease payments by
customers ¥ 1,941 ¥ 2,082 $ 16,877
Other guarantee obligations 493 455 4,292
Total ¥ 2,434 ¥ 2,538 $ 21,170

(Note)  Guarantee obligations are not recognizeaifagancial liability, as the probability of exetg these
guarantees is very low.

38. Events after Reporting Period

Situation in Russia and Ukraine

The Group has one production subsidiary and ons salesidiary in Russia. Due to the conflict betwRansia
and Ukraine that arose in February 2022, on 3 Mag&®, the Group took the decision to suspend éxjdr
goods and the providing services to Russia, asdgdpend production at the factory of its producsiobsidiary
in Russia, effective the same date.

At this point in time, no date for the resumptidrbasiness in Russia has been decided, and itssilge that
the suspension of exports to Russia and the suspesfgproduction and sales within Russia itsatid e fall
in the value of the Russian Ruble, will have anastmn the consolidated financial statements o&twip for
the next following fiscal years. However, it is @ntly difficult to form reasonable estimates of financial
impact.

In the fiscal year 2021, sales revenues in Russianat assets owned by the two Russian subsidiages
negligible as a proportion of the amounts for theup as a whole.
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